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Audits of the Federal Reserve System

The Board of Governors, the Federal
Reserve Banks, and the Federal Reserve
System as a whole are all subject to
several levels of audit and review. The
Board’s financial statements, and its
compliance with laws and regulations
affecting those statements, are audited
annually by an outside auditor retained
by the Board’s Office of Inspector Gen-
eral. The Office of Inspector General
also conducts audits, reviews, and in-
vestigations relating to the Board’s pro-
grams and operations as well as to
Board functions delegated to the
Reserve Banks.

The Reserve Banks’ financial state-
ments are audited annually by an inde-
pendent outside auditor retained by the
Board of Governors. In addition, the
Reserve Banks are subject to annual
examination by the Board. As discussed
in the chapter “Federal Reserve Banks,”
the Board’s examination includes a
wide range of ongoing oversight activi-
ties conducted onsite and offsite by staff
of the Board’s Division of Reserve
Bank Operations and Payment Systems.

Federal Reserve operations are also
subject to review by the Government
Accountability Office. Á
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Board of Governors Financial Statements

The financial statements of the Board Governors for 2008 and 2007 were audited
by Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent auditors.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of the Board of Governors of the Federal
Reserve System (the “Board”) as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related statements
of revenues and expenses and changes in the cumulative results of operations, and cash flows
for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Board’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Gov-
ernment Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the respective financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of express-
ing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Board’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the respective financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System as of December 31, 2008
and 2007, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in con-
formity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
March 23, 2009, on our consideration of the Board’s internal control over financial reporting
and our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and
grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that test-
ing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on com-
pliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit.

McLean, VA
March 23, 2009

439



BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM

BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31,

2008 2007
Assets

Current Assets:

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 58,255,990 $ 44,613,728
Accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,975,478 2,996,318
Prepaid expenses and other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,817,719 4,653,684

Total current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 66,049,187 52,263,730

Noncurrent Assets:

Property and equipment, net (Note 4) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 148,875,490 153,350,880
Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,187,395 166,119

Total noncurrent assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 151,062,885 153,516,999

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $217,112,072 $205,780,729

Liabilities and Cumulative Results of Operations

Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 13,312,600 $ 20,400,282
Accrued payroll and related taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,313,237 5,647,053
Accrued annual leave . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22,234,106 18,429,601
Capital lease payable (current portion) (Note 4) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 471,266 108,755
Unearned revenues and other liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,843,058 702,122

Total current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 47,174,267 45,287,813

Long-term Liabilities:

Capital lease payable (non-current portion) (Note 4) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,183,466 0
Accumulated retirement benefit obligation (Note 5) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,866,659 2,201,675
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation (Note 6) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,527,800 7,972,469
Accumulated postemployment benefit obligation (Note 7) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,900,000 8,855,613
Other long-term liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 648,534 0

Total long-term liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35,126,459 19,029,757

Total liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 82,300,726 64,317,570

Cumulative Results of Operations:

Working capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,346,186 7,084,672
Unfunded long-term liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (24,020,297) (17,542,943)
Net investment in noncurrent assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 148,759,619 153,408,244
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (Note 8) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9,274,162) (1,486,814)

Total cumulative results of operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 134,811,346 141,463,159

Total liabilities and cumulative results of operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $217,112,072 $205,780,729

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES
AND CHANGES IN CUMULATIVE RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

For the years ended December 31,

2008 2007

Board Operating Revenues:

Assessments levied on Federal Reserve Banks for Board
operating expenses and capital expenditures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $352,290,700 $296,124,700

Other revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,059,232 10,365,414

Total operating revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 361,349,932 306,490,114

Board Operating Expenses:

Salaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 219,752,842 197,656,442
Retirement and insurance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 48,394,723 39,451,541
Contractual services and professional fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29,901,374 36,300,185
Depreciation, amortization, and net losses on disposals . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,782,449 13,557,498
Utilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,977,809 8,998,496
Travel . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,414,877 8,619,615
Software . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,277,995 6,678,514
Postage and supplies. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,802,368 8,836,143
Repairs and maintenance. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,214,203 3,890,191
Printing and binding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,825,119 1,976,765
Other expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,870,638 7,861,901

Total operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 360,214,397 333,827,291

Results of Operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,135,535 (27,337,177)

Currency Costs:

Assessments levied on Federal Reserve Banks
for currency costs. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 500,356,895 576,306,073

Expenses for costs related to currency
(Note 9) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 500,356,895 576,306,073

Currency Assessments over (under) Expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 0

Total Results of Operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,135,535 (27,337,177)

Cumulative Results of Operations, Beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 141,463,159 168,631,344

Other Comprehensive Income (Note 8)

Prior service credit (cost) arising during the year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,059,307) 0
Amortization of prior service (credit) cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 73,867 (23,831)
Amortization of net actuarial (gain) loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 131,578 113,142
Net actuarial gain (loss) arising during the year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,183,688) 79,681
Curtailment effects - prior service credit (cost) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 250,202 0

Total Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (7,787,348) 168,992

Cumulative Results of Operations, End of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $134,811,346 $141,463,159

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended December 31,

2008 2007

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Results of Operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,135,535 $(27,337,177)

Adjustments to reconcile results of operations
to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,946,960 13,433,306
Net loss (gain) on disposal of property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (164,511) 124,192

Decrease (increase) in assets:
Accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,164,471) (929,708)

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (7,087,682) 9,449,812
Accrued payroll and related taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,666,184 225,387
Accrued annual leave . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,804,505 2,095,089
Unearned revenues and other liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,140,936 335,818
Accumulated retirement benefit obligation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,664,984 847,013
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 555,331 (139,360)
Accumulated postemployment benefit obligation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,044,387 2,340,312
Other long-term liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 648,534 0

Accumulated other comprehensive income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (7,787,348) 168,992

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21,403,344 613,676

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Proceeds from disposals . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 65,988
Capital expenditures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9,307,059) (15,768,979)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9,307,059) (15,702,991)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Capital lease payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,545,977 (327,663)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,545,977 (327,663)

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,642,262 (15,416,978)

Cash Balance, Beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44,613,728 60,030,706

Cash Balance, End of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $58,255,990 $ 44,613,728

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

442 95th Annual Report, 2008



BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2008 AND 2007

(1) Structure

The Federal Reserve System (System) was established
by Congress in 1913 and consists of the Board of Gov-
ernors (Board), the Federal Open Market Committee, the
twelve regional Federal Reserve Banks, the Federal
Advisory Council, and the private commercial banks that
are members of the System. The Board, unlike the
Reserve Banks, was established as a federal government
agency and is supported by Washington, DC based staff
numbering approximately 2,000, as it carries out its
responsibilities in conjunction with other components of
the Federal Reserve System.

The Board is required by the Federal Reserve Act to
report its operations to the Speaker of the House of Rep-
resentatives. The Act also requires the Board, each year,
to order a financial audit of each Federal Reserve Bank
and to publish each week a statement of the financial
condition of each such Reserve Bank and a consolidated
statement for all of the Reserve Banks. Accordingly, the
Board believes that the best financial disclosure consis-
tent with law is achieved by issuing separate financial
statements for the Board and for the Reserve Banks.
Therefore, the accompanying financial statements
include only the results of operations and activities of the
Board. Combined financial statements for the Federal
Reserve Banks are included in the Board’s annual report
to the Speaker of the House of Representatives.

(2) Operations and Services

The Board’s responsibilities require thorough analysis
of domestic and international financial and economic
developments. The Board carries out those responsibili-
ties in conjunction with other components of the Federal
Reserve System. The Board also supervises and regulates
the operations of the Federal Reserve Banks, exercises
broad responsibility in the nation’s payments system, and
administers most of the nation’s laws regarding con-
sumer credit protection. Policy regarding open market
operations is established by the Federal Open Market
Committee. However, the Board has sole authority over
changes in reserve requirements, and it must approve any
change in the discount rate initiated by a Federal Reserve
Bank.

The Board also plays a major role in the supervision
and regulation of the U.S. banking system. It has super-
visory responsibilities for state-chartered banks that are
members of the Federal Reserve System, bank holding
companies, foreign activities of member banks, and U.S.
activities of foreign banks.

(3) Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting — The Board prepares its finan-
cial statements in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States.

Revenues — The Board assesses the Federal Reserve
Banks for operating expenses and additions to property,
which are based on expected cash needs.

Currency Costs — Federal Reserve Banks issue new
and fit currency to the public and destroy currency
already in circulation as it becomes unfit or when a new
design is issued. Each year, the Board orders new cur-
rency from the U.S. Department of Treasury’s Bureau of
Engraving and Printing. The Board incurs expenses and
assesses the Federal Reserve Banks for costs related to
currency. These expenses and assessments are reported
separately from the Board’s operating transactions in the
Board’s Statement of Revenues and Expenses and
Changes in Cumulative Results of Operations.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts — Accounts receiv-
able considered uncollectible are charged against the
allowance account in the year they are deemed uncollect-
ible. The allowance for doubtful accounts is adjusted
monthly, based upon a review of outstanding receivables.

Property, Equipment, and Software — The Board’s
property, buildings, equipment, and software are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation and amortization are calculated on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
assets, which range from three to ten years for furniture
and equipment, ten to fifty years for building equipment
and structures, and two to ten years for software. Upon
the sale or other disposition of a depreciable asset, the
cost and related accumulated depreciation or amortiza-
tion are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss
is recognized.

The Board complies with Statement of Position 98-1,
Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Devel-
oped or Obtained for Internal Use, which requires that
certain costs incurred in the development of internal use
software be capitalized and amortized over its useful life.

Art Collections — The Board has collections of works
of art, historical treasures, and similar assets. These col-
lections are maintained and held for public exhibition in
furtherance of public service. Proceeds from any sales of
collections are used to acquire other items for collec-
tions. As permitted by Statement of Financial Account-
ing Standards (SFAS) No. 116, Accounting for Contribu-
tions Received and Contributions Made, the cost of
collections purchased by the Board is charged to expense
in the year purchased and donated collection items are
not recorded. The value of the Board’s collections has
not been determined.

Estimates — The preparation of financial statements
in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the finan-
cial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

(4) Property and Equipment

The following is a summary of the components of the
Board’s property and equipment, at cost, net of accumu-
lated depreciation and amortization.
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As of December 31,

2008 2007

Land . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 18,640,314 $ 18,640,314
Buildings and

improvements . . . . . . 150,602,767 149,968,504
Furniture and

equipment . . . . . . . . . 56,104,247 55,625,014
Software in use . . . . . . . . . 14,514,315 14,745,157
Software in process . . . . . 3,832,516 2,064,438
Construction in

process . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,818,295 1,550,565

247,512,454 242,593,992
Less accumulated

depreciation and
amortization . . . . . . . (98,636,964) (89,243,112)

Property and equipment,
net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $148,875,490 $153,350,880

Construction in process includes costs incurred in
2008 and 2007 for long-term security projects and build-
ing enhancements.

In May 2008, the Board received an asset contribution
from a federal government agency with an estimated fair
market value (FMV) of $80,000. The Board recognized
the FMV as revenue and capitalized the asset in June
2008.

The Board entered into capital leases for printing
equipment during 2003, which terminated in May 2008.
The Board subsequently entered into new capital leases
in 2008. Under the new commitments, the capital lease
term extends through 2012. Furniture and equipment
includes $1,923,000 and $1,230,000 in 2008 and 2007,
respectively, for capitalized leases. Accumulated depre-
ciation includes $280,000 and $1,123,000 for capitalized
leases as of 2008 and 2007, respectively. The Board paid
interest related to these capital leases in the amount of
$26,000 and $31,000 as of December 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively.

The future minimum lease payments required under
the capital leases and the present value of the net mini-
mum lease payments as of December 31, 2008, are as
follows:

Year Ending
December 31 Amount

2009 $868,164
2010 868,164
2011 868,164
2012 362,597

Total minimum lease
payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,967,089

Less: Amount representing
maintenance . . . . . . . . . . . (1,247,549)

Net minimum lease
payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,719,540

Less: Amount representing
interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (64,808)

Present value of net minimum
lease payments . . . . . . . . . 1,654,732

Less: Current maturities of
capital lease payments . . (471,266)

Long-term capital lease
obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,183,466

(5) Accumulated Retirement Benefits

Substantially all of the Board’s employees participate
in the Retirement Plan for Employees of the Federal
Reserve System (System Plan). The System Plan pro-
vides retirement benefits only to employees of the Board,
the Federal Reserve Banks, and the Office of Employee
Benefits of the Federal Reserve System (OEB). The Fed-
eral Reserve Bank of New York (FRB NY), on behalf of
the System, recognizes the net asset and costs associated
with the System Plan in its financial statements. Costs
associated with the System Plan are not redistributed to
other participating employers.

Employees of the Board who became employed prior
to 1984 are covered by a contributory defined benefits
program under the System Plan. Employees of the Board
who became employed after 1983 are covered by a non-
contributory defined benefits program under the System
Plan. Contributions to the System Plan are actuarially
determined and funded by participating employers.
Based on actuarial calculations, it was determined that
employer funding contributions were not required for the
years 2008 and 2007, and the Board was not assessed a
contribution for these years. In late 2008, the Committee
on Plan Administration reviewed the System Plan’s
funding status and recommended additional contributions
during 2009. The System began making contributions to
the Plan of $20 million per month starting in January
2009; these contributions will continue to be made each
month and may be adjusted upon completion of the 2009
actuarial valuation.

Effective January 1, 1996, Board employees covered
under the System Plan are also covered under a Benefits
Equalization Plan (BEP). Benefits paid under the BEP
are limited to those benefits that cannot be paid from the
System Plan due to limitations imposed by sections
401(a)(17), 415(b) and 415(e) of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986. Activity for the BEP for 2008 and 2007 is
summarized in the following tables:

As of December 31,

2008 2007

Change in Projected
Benefit Obligation
Benefit obligation,

beginning of year . . $2,201,675 $1,354,662
Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . 589,094 329,282
Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . 213,714 87,837
Plan participants’

contributions . . . . . . . 0 0
Actuarial (gain)/loss . . . . . 1,137,486 453,526
Gross benefits paid . . . . . (35,016) (23,632)
Plan amendments . . . . . . . 484,421 0

Benefit obligation,
end of year . . . . . . . . $4,591,374 $2,201,675

Accumulated benefit
obligation,
end of year . . . . . . . . $1,267,005 $ 685,170

Weighted-average
assumptions used to
determine benefit
obligation as of
December 31:
Discount rate . . . . . . . . . . . 6.00% 6.25%
Rate of compensation

increase . . . . . . . . . . . . 5.00% 5.00%
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As of December 31,

2008 2007

Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets,

beginning of year . . $ 0 $ 0
Employer contributions . . 35,016 23,632
Plan participants’

contributions . . . . . . . 0 0
Gross benefits paid . . . . . (35,016) (23,632)

Fair value of plan assets,
end of year . . . . . . . . $ 0 $ 0

Funded Status
Reconciliation of funded
status at end of year:
Fair value of plan assets . $ 0 $ 0
Benefit obligations . . . . . . 4,591,374 2,201,675

Funded status . . . . . . . . . . . (4,591,374) (2,201,675)

Amount recognized,
end of year . . . . . . . . $(4,591,374) $(2,201,675)

Amounts recognized
in the statements of
financial position
consist of:
Asset . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0 $ 0
Liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,591,374) (2,201,675)

Net amount recognized . . $(4,591,374) $(2,201,675)

Amounts recognized
in accumulated other
comprehensive income
consist of:
Net actuarial loss/(gain) . $ 2,031,269 $ 1,006,257
Prior service cost/

(credit) . . . . . . . . . . . . 256,919 (233,404)
Deferred curtailment

(gain)/loss . . . . . . . . . 0 0

$ 2,288,188 $ 772,853

Expected Cash Flows
Expected employer
contributions:
2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 117,485

Expected benefit
payments:
2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 117,485
2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 139,030
2011 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 158,747
2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 176,977
2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 193,778
2014-2018 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,277,706

Components of net
periodic benefit cost:
Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 589,094 $ 329,282
Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . 213,714 87,837
Expected return on plan

assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 0
Amortization:

Actuarial (gain)/loss . . 112,474 27,655

As of December 31,

2008 2007

Prior service (credit)/
cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,902) (14,013)

Net periodic benefit cost
(credit) . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 909,380 $430,761

Weighted-average
assumptions used to
determine net periodic
benefit cost:
Discount rate . . . . . . . . . . . 6.25%* 6.00%
Rate of compensation

increase . . . . . . . . . . . . 5.00% 4.50%

*In 2008, amendments to the System Plan were approved.

As a result, the actuarially determined net periodic benefit

expenses for the year ended December 31, 2008 were re-

measured with a discount rate of 7.75% as of November 1.

Other Changes in Plan
Assets and Benefit
Obligations Recognized
in Other Comprehensive
Income **
Current year prior service

(credit)/cost . . . . . . . . $ 484,421 $ 0
Current year actuarial

(gain)/loss . . . . . . . . . 1,137,486 453,526
Amortization of prior

service credit/(cost) . 5,902 14,013
Amortization of actuarial

gain/(loss) . . . . . . . . . (112,474) (27,655)

Total recognized in other
comprehensive
income . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,515,335 $439,884

Total recognized in net
periodic benefit
cost and other
comprehensive
income. . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,424,715 $870,645

**For Benefit Equalization Plan, Other Changes to Assets

and Benefits Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income

will be reflected in net periodic cost.

Estimated amounts that
will be amortized from
accumulated other
comprehensive income
into net periodic benefit
cost (credit) in 2009 are
shown below:
Net actuarial (gain)/loss . $ 159,893
Prior service (credit)/

cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35,257

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 195,150

On October 30, 2008, the Board approved a non-
qualified plan for Officers of the Board. The retirement
benefits covered under the Supplemental Employee
Retirement Plan (BSERP) increases the pension benefit
calculation from 1.8 percent above the Social Security
integration level to 2.0 percent. Activity for the BSERP
for 2008 is summarized in the following tables:
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As of December 31,

2008

Change in Projected Benefit
Obligation:
Benefit obligation,

beginning of year . . . . . . . . $ 0
Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37,190
Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 56,010
Plan participants’

contributions . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0
Actuarial (gain)/loss . . . . . . . . . . 1,607,199
Gross benefits paid . . . . . . . . . . . 0
Plan amendments . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,574,886

Benefit obligation,
end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6,275,285

Accumulated benefit
obligation, end of year . . . $ 4,530,540

Weighted-average
assumptions used to
determine benefit
obligation as of
December 31:
Discount rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6.00%
Rate of compensation

increase . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5.00%

Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets,

beginning of year . . . . . . . . $ 0
Employer contributions . . . . . . . 0
Plan participants’

contributions . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0
Gross benefits paid . . . . . . . . . . . 0

Fair value of plan assets,
end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0

Funded Status
Reconciliation of funded
status at end of year:
Fair value of plan assets . . . . . . $ 0
Benefit obligations . . . . . . . . . . . 6,275,285

Funded status . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6,275,285)

Amount recognized,
end of year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(6,275,285)

Amounts recognized in the
statements of financial posi-
tion consist of:
Asset . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0
Liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6,275,285)

Net amount recognized . . . . . . . $(6,275,285)

Amounts recognized in accu-
mulated other comprehensive
income consist of:
Net actuarial loss/(gain) . . . . . . . $ 1,607,199
Prior service cost/(credit) . . . . . 4,482,687
Deferred curtailment (gain)/

loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0

$ 6,089,886

As of December 31,

2008

Expected Cash Flows
Expected employer
contributions:
2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0

Expected benefit payments:
2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0
2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 70,754
2011 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 103,843
2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 140,233
2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 180,946
2014-2018 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,655,909

Components of net periodic
benefit cost:
Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 37,190
Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 56,010
Expected return on plan

assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0
Amortization:

Actuarial (gain)/loss . . . . . . . . 0
Prior service (credit)/cost . . . 92,199

Net periodic benefit cost
(credit) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 185,399

Weighted-average
assumptions used to
determine net periodic
benefit cost:
Discount rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7.75%
Rate of compensation

increase . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5.00%

Other Changes in Plan
Assets and Benefit
Obligations Recognized in
Other Comprehensive
Income
Current year prior service

(credit)/cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $4,574,886
Current year actuarial (gain)/

loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,607,199
Amortization of prior service

credit/(cost) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (92,199)
Amortization of actuarial gain/

(loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0
Total recognized in other

comprehensive income . . . $6,089,886

Total recognized in net periodic
benefit cost and other
comprehensive income. . . $6,275,285

For Board Supplemental Retirement Plan, Other Changes

in Assets and Benefits Recognized in Other Comprehensive

Income will be reflected in net periodic cost.

Estimated amounts that
will be amortized from
accumulated other
comprehensive income into
net periodic benefit cost
(credit) in 2009 are shown
below:
Net actuarial (gain)/loss . . . . . . . $ 118,461
Prior service (credit)/cost . . . . . 553,191

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 671,652
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The total accumulated retirement benefit obligation
for both the Benefits Equalization Plan (BEP) and
Supplemental Retirement Plan (BSERP) are as follows:

As of December 31,

2008 2007

Accumulated retirement
benefit obligation
Benefit obligation,

BEP . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4,591,374 $2,201,675
Benefit obligation,

BSERP . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,275,285 0

Total accumulated
retirement benefit
obligation . . . . . . . . . . $10,866,659 $2,201,675

A relatively small number of Board employees partici-
pate in the Civil Service Retirement System (CSRS) or
the Federal Employees’ Retirement System (FERS).
These defined benefit plans are administered by the U.S.
Office of Personnel Management, which determines the
required employer contribution levels. The Board’s con-
tributions to these plans totaled $305,000 and $316,000
in 2008 and 2007, respectively. The Board has no liabil-
ity for future payments to retirees under these programs
and is not accountable for the assets of the plans.

Employees of the Board may also participate in the
Federal Reserve System’s Thrift Plan or Roth 401(k).
Board contributions to members’ accounts are based
upon a fixed percentage of each member’s basic contri-
bution and were $11,815,000 and $9,542,000 in 2008
and 2007, respectively.

(6) Accumulated Postretirement Benefits

The Board provides certain life insurance programs
for its active employees and retirees. Activity for 2008
and 2007 is summarized in the following tables:

As of December 31,

2008 2007

Change in Projected
Benefit Obligation
Benefit obligation,

beginning of year . . $7,972,469 $8,111,829
Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . 176,450 198,791
Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . 505,691 479,903
Plan participants’

contributions . . . . . . . 0 0
Actuarial (gain)/loss . . . . . 439,003 (533,208)
Gross benefits paid . . . . . (315,611) (284,846)
Plan amendments . . . . . . . 0 0
Curtailments . . . . . . . . . . . . (250,202) 0

Benefit obligation,
end of year . . . . . . . . $8,527,800 $7,972,469

Weighted-average
assumptions used to
determine benefit
obligation as of
December 31:
Discount rate . . . . . . . . . . . 6.00% 6.25%

As of December 31,

2008 2007

Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets,

beginning of year . . $ 0 $ 0
Employer contributions . . 315,611 284,846
Plan participants’

contributions . . . . . . . 0 0
Gross benefits paid . . . . . (315,611) (284,846)

Fair value of plan assets,
end of year . . . . . . . . $ 0 $ 0

Funded Status
Reconciliation of funded
status at end of year:
Fair value of plan assets . $ 0 $ 0
Benefit obligations . . . . . . 8,527,800 7,972,469

Funded status . . . . . . . . . . . (8,527,800) (7,972,469)

Amount recognized,
end of year . . . . . . . . $(8,527,800) $(7,972,469)

Amounts recognized in
the statements of
financial position
consist of:
Asset . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0 $ 0
Liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (8,527,800) (7,972,469)

Net amount recognized . . $(8,527,800) $(7,972,469)

Amounts recognized in
accumulated other
comprehensive income
consist of:
Net actuarial loss/

(gain) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,223,601 $ 803,702
Prior service cost/

(credit) . . . . . . . . . . . . (327,513) (89,741)
Deferred curtailment

(gain)/loss . . . . . . . . . 0 0

$ 896,088 $ 713,961

Expected Cash Flows
Expected employer
contributions:
2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 321,938

Expected benefit
payments:
2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 321,938
2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 349,910
2011 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 368,338
2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 385,498
2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 412,373
2014-2018 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,452,672

Components of net
periodic benefit cost:
Service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 176,450 $ 198,791
Interest cost . . . . . . . . . . . . 505,691 479,902
Expected return on plan

assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 0
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As of December 31,

2008 2007

Amortization:
Actuarial (gain)/loss . . 19,104 85,487
Prior service (credit)/

cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (12,430) (9,818)

Net periodic benefit cost
(credit) . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 688,815 $ 754,362

Weighted-average
assumptions used to
determine net periodic
benefit cost:
Discount rate . . . . . . . . . . . 6.25%* 5.75%

*In 2008, amendments to the plan were approved. As a

result, the actuarially determined net periodic benefit

expenses for the year ended December 31, 2008 were re-

measured with a discount rate of 7.75% as of November 1.

Other Changes in Plan
Assets and Benefit
Obligations Recognized
in Other Comprehensive
Income
Current year prior service

(credit)/cost . . . . . . . . $ 0 $ 0
Current year actuarial

(gain)/loss . . . . . . . . . 439,003 (533,209)
Amortization of prior

service credit/
(cost) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,430 9,818

Amortization of actuarial
gain/(loss) . . . . . . . . . (19,104) (85,487)

Curtailment effects - prior
service (credit)/
cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (250,202) 0

Total recognized in other
comprehensive
income . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 182,127 $(608,878)

Estimated amounts that
will be amortized from
accumulated other
comprehensive income
into net periodic benefit
cost (credit) in 2009 are
shown below:
Net actuarial (gain)/loss . $ 48,178
Prior service (credit)/

cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (25,490)

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 22,688

(7) Accumulated Postemployment Benefits

The Board provides certain postemployment benefits
to eligible former or inactive employees and their depen-
dents during the period subsequent to employment but
prior to retirement. Postemployment costs were actuari-
ally determined using a December 31 measurement date
and discount rates of 2.50 percent and 5.75 percent as of
December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respec-
tively. The accrued postemployment benefit costs recog-
nized by the Board as of December 31, 2008 and Decem-
ber 31, 2007, were $5,974,000 and $3,055,000,
respectively.

(8) Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Following is a reconciliation of beginning and ending
balances of accumulated other comprehensive income.

Amount
Related To

Defined
Benefit

Retirement
Plans

Amount
Related To

Postretirement
Benefits

Other than
Pensions

Balance at January 1,
2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 332,969 $1,322,837

Change in funded status
of benefit plans:
Prior service (credit) cost

arising during the
year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 0

Amortization of prior
service credit
(costs) . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,013 9,818

Amortization of net
actuarial gain
(loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (27,655) (85,487)

Net actuarial (gain) loss
arising during the
year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 0

Curtailment effects - prior
service (credit)
cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 453,526 (533,207)

Change in funded status
of benefit plans -
other comprehensive
income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . 439,884 (608,876)

Balance at December 31,
2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 772,853 $ 713,961

Change in funded status
of benefit plans:
Prior service (credit) cost

arising during the
year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,059,307 0

Amortization of prior
service credit
(costs) . . . . . . . . . . . . . (86,297) 12,430

Amortization of net
actuarial gain
(loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (112,474) (19,104)

Net actuarial (gain) loss
arising during the
year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,744,685 439,003

Curtailment effects—prior
service (credit)
cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 (250,202)

Change in funded status
of benefit plans -
other comprehensive
income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . 7,605,221 182,127

Balance at December 31,
2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $8,378,074 $ 896,088
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Total
Accumulated

Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Balance at January 1,
2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(1,655,806)

Change in funded status
of benefit plans:
Prior service (credit) cost

arising during the
year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0

Amortization of prior
service credit
(costs) . . . . . . . . . . . . . (23,831)

Amortization of net
actuarial gain
(loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 113,142

Net actuarial (gain) loss
arising during the
year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0

Curtailment effects - prior
service (credit)
cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 79,681

Change in funded status
of benefit plans -
other comprehensive
income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . 168,992

Balance at December 31,
2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(1,486,814)

Change in funded status
of benefit plans:
Prior service (credit) cost

arising during the
year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,059,307)

Amortization of prior
service credit
(costs) . . . . . . . . . . . . . 73,867

Amortization of net
actuarial gain
(loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 131,578

Net actuarial (gain) loss
arising during the
year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,183,688)

Curtailment effects - prior
service (credit)
cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 250,202

Change in funded status
of benefit plans -
other comprehensive
income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . (7,787,348)

Balance at December 31,
2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(9,274,162)

Additional detail regarding the classification of accu-
mulated other comprehensive income is included in notes
5 and 6.

(9) Federal Reserve Banks

The Board performs certain functions for the Reserve
Banks in conjunction with its responsibilities for the Sys-
tem, and the Reserve Banks provide certain administra-
tive functions for the Board. Activity related to the Board
and Reserve Banks is summarized in the following table:

As of December 31,

2008 2007

Reserve Bank expenses
charged to the Board
Data processing and

communication . . . . . $ 2,368,144 $ 2,064,110
Contingency site . . . . . . . . 1,265,618 1,152,166

Total Reserve Bank
expenses charged
to the Board . . . . . . . $ 3,633,762 $ 3,216,276

Board expenses charged
to the Reserve Banks
Assessments for currency
costs

Printing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $477,927,083 $555,100,837
Shipping . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,984,564 13,710,396
Retirement . . . . . . . . . . . 3,722,146 3,995,424
Research and

Development . . . . . . . 3,723,101 3,499,416
Assessments for operating

expenses of the
Board . . . . . . . . . . . . . 352,290,700 296,124,700

Data processing . . . . . . . . . 601,957 704,840

Total Board expenses
charged to the
Reserve Banks . . . . . $853,249,551 $873,135,613

Accounts receivable due
from the Reserve
Banks . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,016,688 $ 1,270,582

Accounts payable due
to the Reserve
Banks . . . . . . . . . . . . . 295,848 10

The Board contracted for audit services on behalf of
entities that are included in the combined financial state-
ments of the Federal Reserve Banks. The entities will
reimburse the Board for the cost of the audit services.
The Board accrued liabilities of $313,000 in audit ser-
vices and recorded receivables of $313,000 from the
entities as of December 31, 2008.

(10) Federal Financial Institutions Examination

Council

The Board is one of the five member agencies of the
Council, and currently performs certain management
functions for the Council. The five agencies which are
represented on the Council are the Board, Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation, National Credit Union
Administration, Office of the Comptroller of the Cur-
rency, and Office of Thrift Supervision. The Board’s
financial statements do not include financial data for the
Council. Activity related to the Board and Council for
2008 and 2007 is summarized in the following table:
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As of December 31,

2008 2007

Council expenses charged
to the Board
Assessments for operating

expenses . . . . . . . . . . $ 164,889 $ 108,163
Central Data

Repository . . . . . . . . . 1,352,390 1,167,449
Uniform Bank

Performance
Report . . . . . . . . . . . . . 185,833 192,026

Total Council expenses
charged to the
Board . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,703,112 $1,467,638

Board expenses charged
to the Council
Data processing related

services . . . . . . . . . . . . $4,683,363 $4,457,647
Administrative services . . 190,400 190,800

Total Board expenses
charged to the
Council . . . . . . . . . . . . $4,873,763 $4,648,447

Accounts receivable due
from the Council . . . $ 650,672 $ 384,142

Accounts payable due
to the Council . . . . . . 373,466 64,087

(11) The Office of Employee Benefits of the

Federal Reserve System

The Office of Employee Benefits of the Federal
Reserve System (OEB) administers certain System bene-
fit programs on behalf of the Board and the Reserve
Banks, and costs associated with the OEB’s activities are
assessed to the Board and Reserve Banks. The Board
was assessed $2,867,208 and $2,866,676 as of Decem-
ber 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively.

(12) Bureau of Engraving and Printing

The Bureau of Engraving and Printing (BEP) is the
principal supplier for currency printing and retirement
services. The currency costs incurred and outstanding
balances owed to BEP as of December 31, 2008 and
2007, are reflected in the following table:

As of December 31,

2008 2007

Currency expenses
charged to the Board
Printing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $477,927,083 $555,100,837
Retirement . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,722,146 3,995,424

Total currency expenses
charged to the
Board . . . . . . . . . . . . . $481,649,229 $559,096,261

(13) Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

The Board has entered into several operating leases to
secure office, training and warehouse space. Minimum
annual payments under the operating leases having an
initial or remaining noncancelable lease term in excess of
one year at December 31, 2008, are as follows:

2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,268,850
2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,297,594
2011 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,335,714
2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,414,807
After 2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 49,023,488

$70,340,453

Rental expenses under the operating leases were
$2,207,000 and $539,000 as of December 31, 2008 and
2007, respectively.

Deferred Leases

The amount of additional deferred rent is $537,000
and $318,000 for the years ended December 31, 2008
and 2007, respectively.

Commitments

The Board has entered into an agreement with the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and the Office of
the Comptroller of the Currency, through the Federal
Financial Institutions Examination Council (the Council)
to fund a portion of enhancements and maintenance fees
for a central data repository project through 2010 with an
option to extend maintenance through 2013. The esti-
mated Board expense to support this effort is $7.9 mil-
lion for the base period and $2.6 million for the option
period.

In 2007, the Council began a rewrite of the Home
Mortgage Disclosure Act processing system, for which
the Board provides data processing services. The esti-
mated total expense to the Council of the rewrite is
$3.2 million through 2010. The estimated total Board
expense to support this effort with the maintenance
extension option is $533,000.

Litigation and Contingent Liabilities

The Board is subject to contingent liabilities which
arise from litigation cases and various business contracts.
These contingent liabilities arise in the normal course of
operations and their ultimate disposition is unknown.
Based on information currently available to management,
it is management’s opinion that the expected outcome of
these matters, individually or in the aggregate, will not
have a materially adverse effect on the financial state-
ments.

One case alleges employment discrimination under
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended,
and the Age Discrimination in Employment Act and is
pending in the United States Court of Appeals for the
District of Columbia Circuit. A second action alleges
discrimination on behalf of a class of African American
secretaries at the Board and was dismissed by the United
States District Court for the District of Columbia on
January 31, 2007, and the plaintiffs’ motion to alter or
amend judgment was denied by that court on March 2,
2009. The plaintiffs have until May 1, 2009, to appeal
the matter to the United States Court of Appeals. The
Board has substantial defenses for both cases and intends
to defend the matters vigorously. Management believes
that the likelihood of an adverse judgment for both cases
is small.

The estimated contingent liabilities related to business
contracts were $69,720 and $0 as of December 31, 2008
and December 31, 2007, respectively.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON COMPLIANCE AND ON

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING BASED ON AN

AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCOR-

DANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System:

We have audited the financial statements of The Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System (the “Board”) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2008, and have issued our
report thereon dated March 23, 2009. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Board’s internal control over finan-
cial reporting in order to determine our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our
opinion on the financial statements and not to provide assurance on the internal control over
financial reporting. Our consideration of the internal control over financial reporting would
not necessarily disclose all matters in the internal control that might be material weaknesses.
A material weakness is a condition in which the design or operation of one or more of the
internal control components does not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that misstate-
ments in amounts that would be material in relation to the financial statements being audited
may occur and not be detected within a timely period by employees in the normal course of
performing their assigned functions. We noted no matters involving the internal control over
financial reporting and its operation that we consider to be material weaknesses.

We have communicated to management, in a separate letter dated March 23, 2009, other
matters that we identified during our audit.

Compliance

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Board’s financial statements are
free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions
of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accord-
ingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing
Standards.

Distribution

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board, management, and
others within the organization, Office of Inspector General, the United States Congress, and
is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

McLean, VA
March 23, 2009
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Federal Reserve Banks
Combined Financial Statements

The combined financial statements of the Federal Reserve Banks were
audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent auditors, for the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System
and the Board of Directors of the Federal Reserve Banks:

We have audited the accompanying combined statements of condition of the Federal Reserve
Banks (the “Reserve Banks”) as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 and the related combined
statements of income and comprehensive income and changes in capital for the years then
ended, which have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles established by the
Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. These combined financial statements are
the responsibility of the Reserve Banks’ management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these combined financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Account-
ing Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the combined financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial
reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the combined
Reserve Banks’ internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such
opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and sig-
nificant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As described in Note 4 to the combined financial statements, the Reserve Banks have pre-
pared these combined financial statements in conformity with accounting principles estab-
lished by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, as set forth in the Finan-
cial Accounting Manual for Federal Reserve Banks, which is a comprehensive basis of
accounting other than accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. The effects on such combined financial statements of the differences between the
accounting principles established by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System
and accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America are also
described in Note 4.

In our opinion, the combined financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the combined financial position of the Reserve Banks as of December 31,
2008 and 2007, and the combined results of their operations for the years then ended, on the
basis of accounting described in Note 4.

April 20, 2009
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FEDERAL RESERVE BANKS
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CONDITION

(in millions)

As of December 31,

2008 2007

Assets

Gold certificates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 11,037 $ 11,037
Special drawing rights certificates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,200 2,200
Coin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,688 1,179
Items in process of collection . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 979 1,804
Loans to depository institutions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 544,010 48,636
Other loans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100,082 0
System Open Market Account:

Securities purchased under agreements to resell . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 80,000 46,500
U.S. government, federal agency, and government-sponsored

enterprise securities, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 502,189 745,629
Investments denominated in foreign currencies . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,804 22,914
Central bank liquidity swaps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 553,728 24,000

Consolidated variable interest entities:
Investments held by consolidated variable interest entities (of which

$74,570 is measured at fair value at December 31, 2008) . . . . . . . . . . 411,996 0
Bank premises, equipment, and software, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,572 2,539
Prepaid interest on Federal Reserve notes due from U.S. Treasury . . . . . . 2,425 0
Accrued interest receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,389 6,438
Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 629 1,900

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,245,728 $914,776

Liabilities and Capital

Federal Reserve notes outstanding, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 853,168 $791,691
System Open Market Account:

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 88,352 43,985
Consolidated variable interest entities:

Beneficial interest in consolidated variable interest entities . . . . . . . . . . . 2,824 0
Other liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,813 0

Deposits:
Depository institutions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 860,000 20,767
U.S. Treasury, general account . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 106,123 16,120
U.S. Treasury, supplementary financing account . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 259,325 0
Other deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21,671 363

Deferred credit items . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,471 1,811
Interest on Federal Reserve notes due to U.S. Treasury . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 1,532
Interest due to depository institutions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 88 0
Accrued benefit costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,374 1,281
Other liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 367 326

Total liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,203,576 877,876

Capital paid-in . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21,076 18,450
Surplus (including accumulated other comprehensive loss of

$4,683 million and $1,524 million at December 31, 2008
and 2007, respectively) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21,076 18,450

Total capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 42,152 36,900

Total liabilities and capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,245,728 $914,776

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined financial statements.
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FEDERAL RESERVE BANKS
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in millions)
For the year ended

December 31,

2008 2007

Interest income:
Loans to depository institutions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,817 $ 71
Other loans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,348 0
System Open Market Account:

Securities purchased under agreements to resell . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,891 1,591
U.S. government, federal agency, and government-sponsored

enterprise securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,631 38,707
Investments denominated in foreign currencies . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 623 547
Central bank liquidity swaps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,606 28

Consolidated variable interest entities:
Investments held by consolidated variable interest entities . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,087 0

Total interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43,003 40,944

Interest expense:
System Open Market Account:

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 737 1,688
Depository institutions deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 817 0
Other interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 463 0

Total interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,017 1,688

Net interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40,986 39,256

Non-interest income (loss):
System Open Market Account:

U.S. government, federal agency and government-sponsored
enterprise securities gains, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,769 0

Foreign currency gains, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,266 1,886
Investments held by consolidated variable interest entities (losses), net . (5,237) 0
Income from services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 773 878
Reimbursable services to government agencies . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 461 458
Other income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 899 166

Total non-interest income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,931 3,388

Operating expenses:
Salaries and other benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,184 2,093
Occupancy expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 275 247
Equipment expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 200 203
Assessments by the Board of Governors . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 853 872
Professional fees related to consolidated variable interest entities . . . . . 80 0
Other expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 662 838

Total operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,254 4,253

Net income prior to distribution . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38,663 38,391

Change in funded status of benefit plans (3,159) 325

Comprehensive income prior to distribution . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 35,504 $38,716

Distribution of comprehensive income:
Dividends paid to member banks . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,189 $ 992
Transferred to surplus and change in accumulated other

comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,626 3,126
Payments to U.S. Treasury as interest on Federal Reserve notes . . . . . . 31,689 34,598

Total distribution . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 35,504 $38,716

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined financial statements.
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FEDERAL RESERVE BANKS
COMBINED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN CAPITAL

for the years ended December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007

(in millions, except share data)

Surplus

Capital
Paid-In

Net
Income

Retained

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Total
Surplus

Total
Capital

Balance at January 1, 2007
(306 million shares) . . . . . . . . . . . . . $15,324 $17,173 $(1,849) $15,324 $30,648

Net change in capital stock issued
(63 million shares) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,126 0 0 0 3,126

Transferred to surplus and
change in accumulated other
comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 2,801 325 3,126 3,126

Balance at December 31, 2007
(369 million shares) . . . . . . . . . . . . . $18,450 $19,974 $(1,524) $18,450 $36,900

Net change in capital stock issued
(53 million shares) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,626 0 0 0 2,626

Transferred to surplus and
change in accumulated other
comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 5,785 (3,159) 2,626 2,626

Balance at December 31, 2008
(422 million shares) . . . . . . . . . . . . . $21,076 $25,759 $(4,683) $21,076 $42,152

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these combined financial statements.

Notes to the Combined Financial Statements of the Federal Reserve Banks

(1) Structure

The twelve Federal Reserve Banks (“Reserve Banks”)
are part of the Federal Reserve System (“System”) cre-
ated by Congress under the Federal Reserve Act of 1913
(“Federal Reserve Act”), which established the central
bank of the United States. The Reserve Banks are char-
tered by the federal government and possess a unique set
of governmental, corporate, and central bank character-
istics.

In accordance with the Federal Reserve Act, supervi-
sion and control of each Reserve Bank is exercised by a
board of directors. The Federal Reserve Act specifies the
composition of the board of directors for each of the
Reserve Banks. Each board is composed of nine mem-
bers serving three-year terms: three directors, including
those designated as chairman and deputy chairman, are
appointed by the Board of Governors of the Federal
Reserve System (“Board of Governors”) to represent the
public, and six directors are elected by member banks.
Banks that are members of the System include all
national banks and any state-chartered banks that apply
and are approved for membership in the System. Mem-
ber banks are divided into three classes according to size.
Member banks in each class elect one director represent-
ing member banks and one representing the public. In
any election of directors, each member bank receives one
vote, regardless of the number of shares of Reserve Bank
stock it holds.

The System also consists, in part, of the Board of
Governors and the Federal Open Market Committee
(“FOMC”). The Board of Governors, an independent
federal agency, is charged by the Federal Reserve Act
with a number of specific duties, including general
supervision over the Reserve Banks. The FOMC is com-
posed of members of the Board of Governors, the presi-
dent of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York
(“FRBNY”), and on a rotating basis four other Reserve
Bank presidents.

(2) Operations and Services

The Reserve Banks perform a variety of services and
operations. Functions include participation in formulat-
ing and conducting monetary policy; participation in the
payments system, including large-dollar transfers of
funds, automated clearinghouse (“ACH”) operations, and
check collection; distribution of coin and currency; per-
formance of fiscal agency functions for the U.S. Trea-
sury, certain federal agencies, and other entities; serving
as the federal government’s bank; provision of short-
term loans to depository institutions; provision of loans
to individuals, partnerships, and corporations in unusual
and exigent circumstances; service to consumers and
communities by providing educational materials and
information regarding consumer laws; and supervision of
bank holding companies, state member banks, and U.S.
offices of foreign banking organizations. Certain services
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are provided to foreign and international monetary
authorities, primarily by the FRBNY.

The FOMC, in the conduct of monetary policy, estab-
lishes policy regarding domestic open market operations,
oversees these operations, and annually issues authoriza-
tions and directives to the FRBNY to execute transac-
tions. The FRBNY is authorized and directed by the
FOMC to conduct operations in domestic markets,
including the direct purchase and sale of securities of the
U.S. government, federal agencies, and government-
sponsored enterprises (“GSEs”); the purchase of these
securities under agreements to resell; the sale of these
securities under agreements to repurchase; and the lend-
ing of these securities. The FRBNY executes these trans-
actions at the direction of the FOMC and holds the
resulting securities and agreements in the portfolio
known as the System Open Market Account (“SOMA”).

In addition to authorizing and directing operations in
the domestic securities market, the FOMC authorizes and
directs the FRBNY to execute operations in foreign mar-
kets in order to counter disorderly conditions in
exchange markets or to meet other needs specified by the
FOMC in carrying out the System’s central bank respon-
sibilities. The FRBNY is authorized by the FOMC to
hold balances of, and to execute spot and forward foreign
exchange and securities contracts for, fourteen foreign
currencies and to invest such foreign currency holdings,
ensuring adequate liquidity is maintained. The FRBNY is
also authorized and directed by the FOMC to maintain
liquidity currency arrangements with fourteen central
banks and to “warehouse” foreign currencies for the U.S.
Treasury and Exchange Stabilization Fund (“ESF”)
through the Reserve Banks.

Although the Reserve Banks are separate legal enti-
ties, they collaborate in the delivery of certain services to
achieve greater efficiency and effectiveness. This col-
laboration takes the form of centralized operations and
product or function offices that have responsibility for
the delivery of certain services on behalf of the Reserve
Banks. Various operational and management models are
used and are supported by service agreements between
the Reserve Banks providing the service and the other
Reserve Banks. In some cases, costs incurred by a
Reserve Bank for services provided to other Reserve
Banks are not shared; in other cases, the Reserve Banks
reimburse other Reserve Banks for services provided to
them.

(3) Recent Financial Stability Activities

The System has implemented a number of programs
designed to support the liquidity of financial institutions
and to foster improved conditions in financial markets.
These new programs, which are set forth below, have
resulted in significant changes to the combined financial
statements.

Expanded Open Market Operations and Support for
Mortgage-Related Securities

The Single-Tranche Open Market Operations Pro-
gram, announced on March 7, 2008, allows primary deal-
ers to initiate a series of term repurchase transactions that
are expected to accumulate to $100 billion in total.
Under the provisions of the program, these transactions
are conducted as 28-day term repurchase agreements for

which primary dealers pledge U.S. Treasury and agency
securities and agency Mortgage-Backed Securities
(“MBS”) as collateral. The FRBNY can elect to increase
the size of the term repurchase program if conditions
warrant. The repurchase transactions are reported as
“System Open Market Account: Securities purchased
under agreements to resell” in the Combined Statements
of Condition.

The GSE and Agency Securities and MBS Purchase
Program was announced on November 25, 2008. The
primary goal of the program is to provide support to the
mortgage and housing markets and to foster improved
conditions in financial markets. Under this program, the
FRBNY will purchase the direct obligations of housing-
related GSEs and MBS backed by the Federal National
Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mae”), the Federal Home
Loan Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac”), and the
Government National Mortgage Association (“Ginnie
Mae”). Purchases of the direct obligations of housing-
related GSEs began in November 2008, and purchases of
GSE and agency MBS began in January 2009. There
were no purchases of GSE and agency MBS during the
period ended December 31, 2008. The program was ini-
tially authorized to purchase up to $100 billion in GSE
direct obligations and up to $500 billion in MBS. In
March 2009, the FOMC authorized the FRBNY to pur-
chase up to an additional $750 billion of GSE and
agency mortgage-backed securities, $100 billion of GSE
direct obligations, and $300 billion in longer-term Trea-
sury securities.

The FRBNY holds the resulting securities and agree-
ments in the SOMA portfolio, and the activities of both
programs are allocated to the other Reserve Banks.

Central Bank Liquidity Swaps

The FOMC authorized the FRBNY to establish tem-
porary liquidity currency swap arrangements (central
bank liquidity swaps) with the European Central Bank
and the Swiss National Bank on December 12, 2007, to
help provide liquidity in U.S. dollars to overseas markets.
Subsequently, the FOMC authorized liquidity currency
swap arrangements with additional foreign central banks.
Such arrangements are now authorized with the follow-
ing central banks: the Reserve Bank of Australia, the
Banco Central do Brasil, the Bank of Canada, Danmarks
Nationalbank, the Bank of England, the European Cen-
tral Bank, the Bank of Japan, the Bank of Korea, the
Banco de Mexico, the Reserve Bank of New Zealand,
Norges Bank, the Monetary Authority of Singapore,
Sveriges Riksbank, and the Swiss National Bank. The
activity related to the program is allocated to the other
Reserve Banks. The maximum amount of borrowing per-
missible under the swap arrangement varies by central
bank. The central bank liquidity swap arrangements are
authorized through October 30, 2009.

Lending to Depository Institutions

The Term Auction Facility (“TAF”) program was
announced on December 12, 2007. The goal of TAF is to
help promote the efficient dissemination of liquidity,
which is achieved by the Reserve Banks injecting term
funds through a broader range of counterparties and
against a broader range of collateral than open market
operations. Under the TAF program, Reserve Banks auc-
tion term funds to depository institutions against a wide
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variety of collateral. All depository institutions that are
eligible to borrow under the Reserve Banks’ primary
credit program are eligible to participate in TAF auctions.
All advances must be fully collateralized. The loans are
reported as “Loans to depository institutions” in the
Combined Statements of Condition.

Lending to Primary Dealers

The Term Securities Lending Facility (“TSLF”)
announced on March 11, 2008, promotes liquidity in the
financing markets for U.S. Treasury securities and other
collateral. Under the TSLF, the FRBNY will lend up to
an aggregate amount of $200 billion of U.S. Treasury
securities to primary dealers for a term of 28 days. Secu-
rities loaned are collateralized by a pledge of other secu-
rities, including federal agency debt, federal agency resi-
dential mortgage-backed securities (“RMBS”), and non-
agency AAA/Aaa-rated private-label residential
mortgage-backed securities and are awarded to primary
dealers through a competitive single-price auction. In
February 2009, the System announced the extension
through October 30, 2009, of TSLF. The fees related to
these securities lending transactions are reported as a
component of “Non-interest income (loss): Other
income” in the Combined Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income.

The Primary Dealer Credit Facility (“PDCF”) was
announced on March 16, 2008. The goal of the PDCF is
to improve the ability of primary dealers to provide
financing to participants in the securitization markets.
Primary dealers may obtain secured overnight financing
under the PDCF, in the form of repurchase transactions.
Eligible collateral is that which is eligible for pledge in
tri-party funding arrangements. The program became
operational on September 12, 2008, and the interest rate
charged on the secured financing is the FRBNY’s pri-
mary credit rate. Participants pay a frequency-based fee
if they access the program on more than 45 business days
during the term of the program. Secured financing made
under the PDCF is made with recourse to the primary
dealer. Financing provided under the PDCF is included
in “Other loans” in the Consolidated Statements of Con-
dition. In February 2009, the System announced the
extension of the facility through October 30, 2009.

The Term Securities Lending Facility Options Pro-
gram (“TOP”) announced on July 30, 2008, offers pri-
mary dealers the option to draw upon short-term, fixed-
rate TSLF loans in exchange for eligible collateral. The
options are awarded through a competitive auction. The
program is intended to enhance the effectiveness of the
TSLF by ensuring additional securities liquidity during
periods of heightened collateral market pressures, such as
around quarter-end dates. TOP auction dates are deter-
mined by the FRBNY, and the program authorization
ends concurrently with the TSLF.

The Transitional Credit Extensions, announced on
September 21, 2008, provides liquidity support to
broker-dealers that were in the process of transitioning to
the bank holding company structure. The credit exten-
sions under this program are aimed at providing the firms
with increased liquidity and are collateralized similar to
loans made under either the FRBNY’s primary credit
programs or through the existing PDCF. Financing pro-
vided under the Transitional Credit Extensions are

included in “Other loans” in the Combined Statements of
Condition.

Other Lending Facilities

The Asset-Backed Commercial Paper Money Market
Mutual Fund Liquidity Facility (“AMLF”), announced
on September 19, 2008, is a lending facility that provides
funding under certain conditions to U.S. depository insti-
tutions and bank holding companies to finance the pur-
chase of high-quality asset-backed commercial paper
(“ABCP”) from money market mutual funds. The pro-
gram is intended to assist money market mutual funds
that hold such paper to meet the demands for investor
redemptions and to foster liquidity in the ABCP market
and in money markets more generally. The Federal
Reserve Bank of Boston (“FRBB”) administers the
AMLF and is authorized to extend these loans to eligible
borrowers on behalf of the other Reserve Banks. All
loans extended under the AMLF are recorded as assets
by the FRBB and, if the borrowing institution settles to a
depository account in another Federal Reserve District,
the funds are credited to the institution’s depository
account and settled between the Reserve Banks through
the interdistrict settlement account. The credit risk
related to the AMLF is assumed by the FRBB. The
FRBB is authorized to finance the purchase of commer-
cial paper through October 30, 2009.

The Commercial Paper Funding Facility (the “CPFF
Program”), announced on October 7, 2008, provides
liquidity to the commercial paper market in the U.S. by
increasing the availability of term commercial paper
funding to issuers and by providing greater assurance to
both issuers and investors that issuers will be able to roll
over their maturing commercial paper. The CPFF Pro-
gram became operational on October 27, 2008, and was
originally authorized to purchase commercial paper
through April 30, 2009, with authorization subsequently
extended through October 30, 2009. The Commercial
Paper Funding Facility LLC (“CPFF”) is a limited liabil-
ity company that was formed on October 14, 2008, in
connection with the implementation of the CPFF Pro-
gram to purchase eligible three-month unsecured and
asset-backed commercial paper (“ABCP”) directly from
eligible issuers using the proceeds of loans made to the
CPFF. The CPFF is a single-member limited liability
company with the FRBNY as the sole and managing
member. The FRBNY will continue to provide funding
to the CPFF after such date, if necessary, until the
CPFF’s underlying assets mature.

All loans made by the FRBNY to the CPFF are on a
full recourse basis and all the assets in the CPFF serve as
collateral. The rate of interest on the loan is the target
federal funds rate and is fixed through the life of the
loan. If the target federal funds rate is a range, then the
rate of interest is set at the maximum rate within such
range. Principal and accrued interest are payable, in full,
at the maturity date of the commercial paper. The FRB-
NY’s loan to the CPFF is eliminated during consolida-
tion.

To be eligible for purchases by the CPFF, commercial
paper must, among other things, be (i) issued by a U.S.
issuer (which includes U.S. issuers with a foreign parent
company and U.S. branches of foreign banks) and (ii) be
rated at least A-1/P-1/F1 by a nationally recognized sta-
tistical rating organizations (“NRSRO”) or, if rated by
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multiple NRSROs, at least A-1/P-1/F1 by two or more.
The commercial paper must also be U.S. dollar-
denominated and have a three-month maturity. Commer-
cial paper purchased by the CPFF is discounted when
purchased and carried at amortized cost. The maximum
amount of a single issuer’s commercial paper that the
CPFF may own at any time (the “maximum face value”)
will be the greatest amount of U.S. dollar-denominated
commercial paper the issuer had outstanding on any day
between January 1 and August 31, 2008. The CPFF will
not purchase additional commercial paper from an issuer
whose total commercial paper outstanding to all inves-
tors (including the CPFF) equals or exceeds the issuer’s
maximum face value limit.

All issuers must pay a non-refundable facility fee
upon registration with the CPFF equal to 10 basis points
of the issuer’s maximum face value. CPFF Program par-
ticipants that issue unsecured commercial paper to the
CPFF are required to pay a surcharge of 100 basis points
per annum of the face value. The CPFF is authorized to
reinvest cash in short-term and highly liquid assets,
which includes U.S. Treasury and agency securities
(excluding mortgage-backed securities), money market
funds, repurchase agreements collateralized by U.S.
Treasury and agency securities as well as U.S. dollar-
denominated overnight deposits. In January 2009, the
FRBNY announced that ABCP issuers that were inactive
prior to the creation of the CPFF Program are ineligible
for participation in the program. An issuer is considered
inactive if it did not issue ABCP to institutions other than
the sponsoring institution for any consecutive period of
three months or longer between January 1 and August
31, 2008.

The Money Market Investor Funding Facility
(“MMIFF”), announced on October 21, 2008, supports a
private-sector initiative designed to provide liquidity to
U.S. money market investors. Under the MMIFF, the
FRBNY provides senior secured funding to a series of
limited liability companies (“LLC”) that were established
by the private sector to finance the purchase of eligible
assets from eligible investors. Eligible assets include U.S.
dollar-denominated certificates of deposit and commer-
cial paper issued by highly-rated financial institutions
with remaining maturities of 90 days or less. During
2008, only U.S. money market mutual funds were eli-
gible investors. The MMIFF will purchase these assets
by issuing subordinated ABCP equal to 10 percent of the
asset’s purchase price and by borrowing, on a secured
basis, 90 percent of the price. The MMIFF may purchase
up to $600 billion in money market instruments, with up
to $540 billion of the funding provided by the FRBNY.
MMIFF purchases will be recorded at amortized cost.
Although there were no material transactions in the
MMIFF for the period ended December 31, 2008, the
MMIFF LLCs are consolidated on the FRBNY’s finan-
cial statements. In January 2009, the System announced
that the set of institutions eligible to participate in
MMIFF would be expanded from U.S. money market
mutual funds to also include a number of other money
market investors. The newly eligible participants include
U.S.-based securities-lending cash-collateral reinvest-
ment funds, portfolios, and accounts (securities lenders)
and U.S.-based investment funds that operate in a man-
ner similar to money market mutual funds, such as cer-
tain local government investment pools, common trust

funds, and collective investment funds. Additionally, the
System authorized the adjustment of several of the eco-
nomic parameters of the MMIFF, including the minimum
yield on assets eligible to be sold to the MMIFF. In Feb-
ruary 2009, the System announced the extension of
MMIFF through October 30, 2009.

The Board of Governors announced the creation of
the Term Asset-Backed Securities Loan Facility
(“TALF”) on November 25, 2008. The goal of the TALF
is to help market participants meet the credit needs of
households and small businesses by supporting the issu-
ance of asset-backed securities (“ABS”) collateralized by
student loans, auto loans, credit card loans, and loans
guaranteed by the Small Business Administration
(“SBA”). Under the TALF, the FRBNY will lend up to
$200 billion on a non-recourse basis to holders of certain
AAA-rated ABS backed by newly and recently origi-
nated consumer and small business loans. ABS accepted
as collateral for the loans extended by the FRBNY are
assigned a lending value (fair value reduced by a margin)
deemed appropriate by the FRBNY. The Treasury, under
the Troubled Assets Relief Program (“TARP”) of the
Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008, will
provide $20 billion of credit protection to the FRBNY in
connection with the TALF. All U.S. persons that own eli-
gible collateral may participate in the TALF. The TALF
will cease making new loans on December 31, 2009,
unless the Board of Governors agrees to extend it. There
were no transactions during the period ended December
31, 2008. On February 10, 2009, the Board of Governors
announced that it is prepared to expand the size of the
TALF to as much as $1 trillion and potentially broaden
the eligible collateral to encompass other types of newly
issued AAA-rated ABS, such as ABS backed by com-
mercial mortgages or private-label ABS backed by resi-
dential mortgages. If the size of the TALF is expanded,
the U.S. Treasury will increase its credit protection to the
FRBNY. On March 23, 2009, the U.S. Treasury, in con-
junction with the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(“FDIC”) and Federal Reserve, announced the Public-
Private Investment Program for Legacy Assets. One part
of the program, the Legacy Securities Program, would
involve an expansion of the TALF program to include
the provision of non-recourse loans to fund purchases of
eligible legacy securitization assets, including certain
non-agency RMBS that were originally rated AAA and
certain collateralized mortgage-backed securities
(“CMBS”) and other ABS that are rated AAA.

Support for Specific Institutions

In connection with and to facilitate the merger of The
Bear Stearns Companies, Inc. (“Bear Stearns”) and
JPMorgan Chase & Co. (“JPMC”), the FRBNY formed
Maiden Lane LLC (“ML”). Credit was extended to ML
on June 26, 2008. ML is a limited liability company
formed by the FRBNY to acquire certain assets of Bear
Stearns and to manage those assets over time, in order to
maximize the repayment of credit extended to ML and to
minimize disruption to the financial markets. The assets
acquired by ML were valued at $29.9 billion as of March
14, 2008, the date that the FRBNY committed to the
transaction, and largely consisted of mortgage-related
securities, mortgage loans and the associated hedges,
which included credit and interest rate derivatives, as
well as mortgage commitments (“To Be Announced” or
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“TBAs”). The FRBNY extended approximately a $28.8
billion senior loan and JPMC extended a $1.15 billion
subordinated loan to finance the acquisition of assets.
The loans are collateralized by all of the assets of ML.
The FRBNY is the sole and managing member of the
ML. The FRBNY is the controlling party of the assets of
ML and will remain as such as long as the FRBNY
retains an economic interest. The interest rate on the
senior loan is the primary credit rate in effect from time
to time. JPMC will bear the first $1.2 billion of any
losses associated with the portfolio through its subordi-
nated loan and any realized gains will accrue to the
FRBNY. The interest on the JPMC subordinated loan is
the FRBNY’s primary credit rate plus 450 basis points.
The FRBNY consolidates ML.

The Board of Governors announced on September 16,
2008, that the FRBNY was authorized to lend to Ameri-
can International Group, Inc. (“AIG”). Initially, the
FRBNY provided AIG with a line of credit collateralized
by the pledge of a substantial portion of the assets of
AIG. Under the provisions of the original agreement, the
FRBNY was authorized to lend up to $85 billion to AIG
for two years at a rate of the three-month London Inter-
bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 850 basis points. In
addition, AIG was assessed a one-time commitment fee
of 200 basis points on the full amount of the commitment
and a fee of 850 basis points per annum on the undrawn
credit line. A condition of the credit agreement was that
AIG would issue to a trust, for the sole benefit of the
federal treasury, preferred shares convertible to approxi-
mately seventy-eight percent of the issued and outstand-
ing shares of the common stock of AIG. The AIG Credit
Facility Trust was formed on January 16, 2009, and the
preferred shares were issued to the Trust on March 4,
2009. The Trust has three independent trustees who con-
trol the trust’s voting and consent rights. The FRBNY
cannot exercise voting or consent rights.

On October 8, 2008, the FRBNY began providing
cash collateral to certain AIG insurance subsidiaries in
connection with AIG’s domestic securities lending
program.

On November 10, 2008, the FRBNY and the U.S.
Treasury announced a restructuring of the government’s
financial support to AIG. As part of the restructuring, the
U.S. Treasury purchased $40 billion of newly issued AIG
preferred shares under the Troubled Asset Relief Pro-
gram (“TARP”). TARP funds were used to pay down the
majority of AIG’s debt to the FRBNY, and the terms of
the original agreement were modified. The restructuring
also reduced the line of credit to $60 billion, reduced the
interest rate to the three-month LIBOR (subject to a floor
of 350 basis points), reduced the fee on undrawn funds
to 75 basis points, and extended the length of the agree-
ment to five years. The other material terms of the fund-
ing were unchanged. These revised terms were more
consistent with terms granted to other entities with simi-
lar credit risk. Financing provided under the line of credit
is included in “Other loans” in the Combined Statements
of Condition.

Concurrent with the November 10, 2008, announce-
ment of the restructuring of its financial support to AIG,
the FRBNY announced the planned formation of two
special purpose vehicles (“SPVs”). On December 12,
2008, the FRBNY extended credit to Maiden Lane II
LLC (“ML II”), a limited liability company formed to

purchase RMBS from the reinvestment pool of the secu-
rities lending portfolio of several regulated U.S. insur-
ance subsidiaries of AIG. ML II borrowed $19.5 billion
from the FRBNY and (after certain adjustments includ-
ing payments on the RMBS totaling $0.3 billion between
October 31, 2008, and December 12, 2008) used the pro-
ceeds to purchase from AIG’s domestic insurance sub-
sidiaries RMBS, which had an approximate fair value of
$20.8 billion as of October 31, 2008. The FRBNY’s loan
and the fixed deferred purchase price of the AIG subsid-
iaries are collateralized by all of the assets of ML II. The
FRBNY is the sole and managing member of ML II. The
FRBNY is the controlling party of the assets of ML II
and will remain as such as long as the FRBNY retains an
economic interest. Net proceeds received by ML II will
be applied to pay the FRBNY’s senior loan plus interest
at a rate of the one-month LIBOR plus 100 basis points.
As part of the agreement, the AIG subsidiaries also
became entitled to receive from ML II a fixed deferred
purchase price of up to $1 billion, plus interest on any
such fixed deferred purchase price outstanding at a rate
of the one-month LIBOR plus 300 basis points, payable
from net proceeds received by ML II and only to the
extent that the FRBNY’s senior loan has been paid in
full. After ML II has paid the FRBNY’s senior loan and
the fixed deferred purchase price in full, including
accrued and unpaid interest, the FRBNY will be entitled
to receive five-sixths of any additional net proceeds
received by ML II as contingent interest on the senior
loan, and AIG will be entitled to receive one-sixth of any
net proceeds received by ML II as variable deferred pur-
chase price. As a result of the formation of ML II, the
FRBNY’s lending in connection with AIG’s securities
lending program, initiated on October 8, 2008, was ter-
minated. The FRBNY consolidates ML II.

On November 25, 2008, the FRBNY extended credit
to Maiden Lane III LLC (“ML III”), a limited liability
company formed to purchase asset-backed securities col-
lateralized debt obligations (“ABS CDOs”) from certain
third-party counterparties of AIG Financial Products
Corp. (“AIGFP”). In connection with the acquisitions,
the third-party counterparties agreed to terminate their
related credit derivative contracts with AIGFP. In con-
nection with the credit agreement, on November 25,
2008, ML III borrowed approximately $15.1 billion from
the FRBNY, and AIG provided an equity contribution of
$5 billion to ML III. The proceeds were used to purchase
CDOs with a fair value of $21.1 billion as of October 31,
2008. The counterparties received $20.1 billion net of
principal, interest received, and finance charges paid.

Subsequently, on December 18, 2008, ML III bor-
rowed an additional $9.2 billion from the FRBNY to
fund the acquisition of additional ABS CDOs with a fair
value of $8.5 billion as of October 31, 2008. The net
payment to counterparties for this subsequent transaction
was $6.7 billion. ML III also made a payment to AIGFP
of $2.5 billion representing the over-collateralization pre-
viously posted by AIGFP and retained by counterparties
in respect of the terminated credit default swaps (“CDS”)
as compared to ML III’s fair value acquisition prices
calculated as of October 31, 2008. The FRBNY is the
sole and managing member of ML III. The FRBNY is
the controlling party of the assets of ML III and will
remain as such as long as the FRBNY retains an eco-
nomic interest in ML III. Net proceeds received by ML
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III will be applied to pay the FRBNY’s senior loan plus
interest at a rate of the one-month LIBOR plus 100 basis
points. The FRBNY’s senior loan is collateralized by all
of the assets of ML III. After payment of principal and
interest on the FRBNY’s senior loan in full, including
accrued and unpaid interest, AIG is entitled to receive
from ML III repayment of its equity contribution of $5
billion, plus interest at a rate of the one-month LIBOR
plus 300 basis points, payable from net proceeds
received by ML III. After ML III has paid the FRBNY’s
senior loan and AIG’s equity contribution in full, the
FRBNY will be entitled to receive two-thirds of any
additional net proceeds received by ML III as contingent
interest on the senior loan, and AIG will be entitled to
receive one-third of any net proceeds received by ML III
as contingent distributions on its equity interest. The
FRBNY consolidates ML III.

On March 2, 2009, the FRBNY and U.S. Treasury
announced their intent to restructure the financial assis-
tance provided to AIG. The restructuring is expected to
further the U.S. government’s commitment to the orderly
restructuring of AIG over time in the face of continuing
market dislocations and economic deterioration and to
provide evidence of its commitment to continue to work
with AIG to ensure that the company can meet its obli-
gations as they come due. Under the proposed new
agreement, the line of credit would be reduced in
exchange for preferred interest in two SPVs created to
hold all of the outstanding common stock of American
Life Insurance Company (ALICO) and American Inter-
national Assurance Company Ltd. (AIA), two life insur-
ance holding company subsidiaries of AIG. Although the
FRBNY would have certain governance rights to protect
its interests, AIG would retain control of ALICO and
AIA. The initial valuation of the FRBNY’s preferred
interests, which may be up to $26 billion, will be a per-
centage of the fair market value of ALICO and AIA
based on measurements of value acceptable to the
FRBNY. The System is evaluating the accounting impli-
cations of these changes on the 2009 combined financial
statements.

In addition, the FRBNY has been authorized to make
loans of up to $8.5 billion to SPVs that may be estab-
lished by the domestic life insurance subsidiaries of AIG.
The SPVs would repay the loans from the net cash flows
they receive from designated blocks of existing life
insurance policies held by the parent insurance compa-
nies. The proceeds of the FRBNY’s loans would pay
down an equivalent amount of outstanding debt under
the line of credit. The amounts lent, the size of the hair-
cuts taken by the FRBNY, and other terms of the loans
would be determined based on valuations acceptable to
the FRBNY. In addition, the interest rate on the line of
credit would be modified, removing the existing floor on
the LIBOR rate, and the total amount available under the
line of credit would be reduced from $60 billion to no
less than $25 billion. The line would continue to be col-
lateralized by a lien on a substantial portion of AIG’s
assets, including the equity interest in businesses AIG
plans to retain. The other material terms of the line of
credit would remain unchanged. As of April 2, 2009, the
agreements necessary to effect this restructuring had not
been executed.

The Board of Governors, the U.S. Treasury, and the
FDIC jointly announced on November 23, 2008, that the

U.S. government would provide financial support to Citi-
group, Inc. (“Citigroup”). The agreement provides fund-
ing support for possible future principal losses on up to
$301 billion of Citigroup’s assets. It extends for ten years
for residential assets and five years for non-residential
assets. Under the agreement, a loss on a portfolio asset
includes a charge-off or realized loss upon collection,
through a permitted disposition or exchange, or upon a
foreclosure or short-sale loss, but not through a change in
Citigroup’s mark-to-market accounting for the asset or
the creation or increase of a related loss reserve. The
FRBNY’s commitment to lend under the agreement is
triggered at the time that qualifying losses of $56.2 bil-
lion have been recognized in the covered assets pool. At
that point, if Citigroup makes a proper election, the
FRBNY would make a single non-recourse loan to Citi-
group in an amount equal to the aggregate adjusted base-
line value of the remaining covered assets, as defined in
the relevant agreements. The loan would be collateral-
ized by the remaining covered asset pool. The interest
rate on the loan would be equal to the rate on the three-
month overnight index swap rate (“OIS rate”) plus 300
basis points. Citigroup would be required to make man-
datory principal prepayments of the loan in an amount
equal to 10 percent of any further covered losses on the
remaining covered assets, and that obligation plus the
interest on the loan is with recourse to Citigroup. The
loan matures in 2018 (or 2019 if extended by the
FRBNY).

The Board of Governors, the U.S. Treasury, and the
FDIC jointly announced on January 15, 2009, that the
U.S. government would provide financial support to
Bank of America Corporation (“Bank of America”).
Under this arrangement, the Federal Reserve Bank of
Richmond (FRBR) will provide funding support for pos-
sible future principal losses relating to a designated pool
of up to $118 billion of financial instruments. The
FRBR’s commitment under the arrangement is to pro-
vide a non-recourse loan to Bank of America if and when
qualifying losses of $18 billion have been recorded in the
pool. Interest and fees would be with recourse to Bank of
America. This arrangement extends for a maximum of
ten years for residential assets and five years for non-
residential assets. Because the details of the arrangement
have not been finalized, the FRBR has not determined
the accounting treatment for this transaction.

(4) Significant Accounting Policies

Accounting principles for entities with the unique
powers and responsibilities of a nation’s central bank
have not been formulated by accounting standard-setting
bodies. The Board of Governors has developed special-
ized accounting principles and practices that it considers
to be appropriate for the nature and function of a central
bank. These accounting principles and practices are
documented in the Financial Accounting Manual for
Federal Reserve Banks (“Financial Accounting Manual”
or “FAM”), which is issued by the Board of Governors.
All of the Reserve Banks are required to adopt and apply
accounting policies and practices that are consistent with
the FAM and the combined financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with the FAM.

Differences exist between the accounting principles
and practices in the FAM and generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”),
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primarily due to the unique nature of the Reserve Banks’
powers and responsibilities as part of the nation’s central
bank. The primary difference is the presentation of all
SOMA securities holdings at amortized cost, rather than
using the fair value presentation as required by GAAP.
U.S. government, federal agency, and GSE securities and
investments denominated in foreign currencies compris-
ing the SOMA are recorded at cost, on a settlement-date
basis, and are adjusted for amortization of premiums or
accretion of discounts on a straight-line basis. Amortized
cost more appropriately reflects the Reserve Banks’
securities holdings, given the System’s unique responsi-
bility to conduct monetary policy. Although application
of fair value measurements to the securities holdings
may result in values substantially above or below their
carrying values, these unrealized changes in value would
have no direct effect on the quantity of reserves available
to the banking system or on the prospects for future
Reserve Bank earnings or capital. Both the domestic and
foreign components of the SOMA portfolio may involve
transactions that result in gains or losses when holdings
are sold prior to maturity. Decisions regarding securities
and foreign currency transactions, including their pur-
chase and sale, are motivated by monetary policy objec-
tives rather than profit. Accordingly, fair values, earn-
ings, and any gains or losses resulting from the sale of
such securities and currencies are incidental to the open
market operations and do not motivate decisions related
to policy or open market activities.

In addition, the Board of Governors and the Reserve
Banks have elected not to present a Statement of Cash
Flows because the liquidity and cash positions of the
Reserve Banks are not a primary concern given their
unique powers and responsibilities. Other information
regarding the Reserve Banks’ activities is provided in, or
may be derived from, the Combined Statements of Con-
dition, Income and Comprehensive Income, and Changes
in Capital. There are no other significant differences
between the policies outlined in the FAM and GAAP.

Preparing the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with the FAM requires management to make
certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contin-
gent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated
financial statements, and the reported amounts of income
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates. Certain amounts relat-
ing to the prior year have been reclassified to conform to
the current-year presentation. Unique accounts and sig-
nificant accounting policies are explained below.

(a) Consolidation

The combined financial statements include the
accounts and results of operations of the Reserve Banks
as well as several variable interest entities (“VIEs”),
which include ML, ML II, ML III, and CPFF. The con-
solidation of the VIEs was assessed in accordance with
FASB Interpretation No. 46 (revised), Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities (“FIN 46R”), which requires a
variable interest entity to be consolidated by its primary
beneficiary.

A Reserve Bank consolidates a VIE if it is the primary
beneficiary because it will absorb a majority of the enti-
ty’s expected losses, receive a majority of the entity’s
expected residual returns, or both. To determine whether

it is the primary beneficiary of a VIE, the Reserve Bank
evaluates the VIEs’ design, capital structure, and the
relationships among the variable interest holders. The
Reserve Bank reconsiders whether it is the primary bene-
ficiary of a VIE when certain events occur as required by
FIN 46R. Intercompany balances and transactions are
eliminated in consolidation.

(b) Gold and Special Drawing Rights Certificates

The Secretary of the U.S. Treasury is authorized to
issue gold and special drawing rights (“SDR”) certifi-
cates to the Reserve Banks.

Payment for the gold certificates by the Reserve
Banks is made by crediting equivalent amounts in dollars
into the account established for the U.S. Treasury. The
gold certificates held by the Reserve Banks are required
to be backed by the gold of the U.S. Treasury. The U.S.
Treasury may reacquire the gold certificates at any time
and the Reserve Banks must deliver them to the U.S.
Treasury. At such time, the U.S. Treasury’s account is
charged, and the Reserve Banks’ gold certificate
accounts are reduced. The value of gold for purposes of
backing the gold certificates is set by law at $42 2/9 a
fine troy ounce. The Board of Governors allocates the
gold certificates among the Reserve Banks once a year
based on the average Federal Reserve notes outstanding
in each Reserve Bank.

SDR certificates are issued by the International Mone-
tary Fund (the “Fund”) to its members in proportion to
each member’s quota in the Fund at the time of issuance.
SDR certificates serve as a supplement to international
monetary reserves and may be transferred from one
national monetary authority to another. Under the law
providing for U.S. participation in the SDR system, the
Secretary of the U.S. Treasury is authorized to issue SDR
certificates somewhat like gold certificates to the
Reserve Banks. When SDR certificates are issued to the
Reserve Banks, equivalent amounts in dollars are cred-
ited to the account established for the U.S. Treasury, and
the Reserve Banks’ SDR certificate accounts are
increased. The Reserve Banks are required to purchase
SDR certificates, at the direction of the U.S. Treasury, for
the purpose of financing SDR acquisitions or for financ-
ing exchange stabilization operations. At the time SDR
transactions occur, the Board of Governors allocates
SDR certificate transactions among the Reserve Banks
based upon each Reserve Bank’s Federal Reserve notes
outstanding at the end of the preceding year. There were
no SDR transactions in 2008 or 2007.

(c) Loans to Depository Institutions and Other Loans

Loans are reported at their outstanding principal bal-
ances net of unamortized commitment fees. Interest
income is recognized on an accrual basis. Loan commit-
ment fees are generally deferred and amortized on a
straight-line basis over the commitment period, which is
not materially different from the interest method.

Outstanding loans are evaluated to determine whether
an allowance for loan losses is required. The Reserve
Banks have developed procedures for assessing the
adequacy of the allowance for loan losses that reflect the
assessment of credit risk considering all available infor-
mation. This assessment includes monitoring information
obtained from banking supervisors, borrowers, and other
sources to assess the credit condition of the borrowers.
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Loans are considered to be impaired when it is prob-
able that the Reserve Banks will not receive principal
and interest due in accordance with the contractual terms
of the loan agreement. The amount of the impairment is
the difference between the recorded amount of the loan
and the amount expected to be collected after consider-
ation of the fair value of the collateral. Recognition of
interest income is discontinued for any loans that are
considered to be impaired. Cash payments made by bor-
rowers on impaired loans are applied to principal until
the balance is reduced to zero; subsequent payments are
recorded as recoveries of amounts previously charged off
and then to interest income.

(d) Securities Purchased Under Agreements to Resell,

Securities Sold Under Agreements to Repurchase,

and Securities Lending

The FRBNY may engage in tri-party purchases of
securities under agreements to resell (“tri-party agree-
ments”). Tri-party agreements are conducted with two
commercial custodial banks that manage the clearing and
settlement of collateral. Collateral is held in excess of the
contract amount. Acceptable collateral under tri-party
agreements primarily includes U.S. government securi-
ties; pass-through mortgage securities of Fannie Mae,
Freddie Mac, and Ginnie Mae; STRIP securities of the
U.S. government; and “stripped” securities of other gov-
ernment agencies. The tri-party agreements are
accounted for as financing transactions and the associ-
ated interest income is accrued over the life of the
agreement.

Securities sold under agreements to repurchase are
accounted for as financing transactions, and the associ-
ated interest expense is recognized over the life of the
transaction. These transactions are reported at their con-
tractual amounts in the Combined Statements of Condi-
tion, and the related accrued interest payable is reported
as a component of “Other liabilities.”

U.S. government securities held in the SOMA are lent
to primary dealers to facilitate the effective functioning
of the domestic securities market. Overnight securities-
lending transactions are fully collateralized by other U.S.
government securities. TSLF transactions are fully col-
lateralized with investment-grade debt securities, collat-
eral eligible for tri-party repurchase agreements arranged
by the Open Market Trading Desk, or both. The collat-
eral taken in both overnight and TSLF transactions is in
excess of the fair value of the securities loaned. The
FRBNY charges the primary dealer a fee for borrowing
securities, and these fees are reported as a component of
“Non-interest income (loss): Other income” in the Com-
bined Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

Activity related to securities purchased under agree-
ments to resell, securities sold under agreements to
repurchase, and securities lending are allocated to each
of the Reserve Banks on a percentage basis derived from
an annual settlement of the interdistrict settlement
account.

(e) U.S. Government, Federal Agency, and Government-
Sponsored Enterprises Securities; Investments
Denominated in Foreign Currencies and Warehous-
ing Agreements

Interest income on U.S. government, federal agency,
and GSE securities and investments denominated in for-

eign currencies comprising the SOMA is accrued on a
straight-line basis. Gains and losses resulting from sales
of securities are determined by specific issue based on
average cost. Foreign-currency-denominated assets are
revalued daily at current foreign currency market
exchange rates in order to report these assets in U.S. dol-
lars. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on invest-
ments denominated in foreign currencies are reported as
“Foreign currency gains, net” in the Combined State-
ments of Income and Comprehensive Income.

Activity related to U.S. government, federal agency,
and GSE securities, including the premiums, discounts,
and realized gains and losses, is allocated to each
Reserve Bank on a percentage basis derived from an
annual settlement of the interdistrict settlement account
that occurs in April of each year. The settlement also
equalizes Reserve Bank gold certificate holdings to Fed-
eral Reserve notes outstanding in each District. Activity
related to investments denominated in foreign currencies,
including the premiums, discounts, and realized and
unrealized gains and losses, is allocated to each Reserve
Bank based on the ratio of each Reserve Bank’s capital
and surplus to aggregate capital and surplus at the pre-
ceding December 31.

Warehousing is an arrangement under which the
FOMC agrees to exchange, at the request of the U.S.
Treasury, U.S. dollars for foreign currencies held by the
U.S. Treasury or ESF over a limited period of time. The
purpose of the warehousing facility is to supplement the
U.S. dollar resources of the U.S. Treasury and ESF for
financing purchases of foreign currencies and related
international operations.

Warehousing agreements are designated as held for
trading purposes and are valued daily at current market
exchange rates. Activity related to these agreements is
allocated to each Reserve Bank based on the ratio of
each Reserve Bank’s capital and surplus to aggregate
capital and surplus at the preceding December 31.

(f) Central Bank Liquidity Swaps

At the initiation of each central bank liquidity swap
transaction, the foreign central bank transfers a specified
amount of its currency to the FRBNY in exchange for
U.S. dollars at the prevailing market exchange rate. Con-
current with this transaction, the FRBNY and the foreign
central bank agree to a second transaction that obligates
the foreign central bank to return the U.S. dollars and the
FRBNY to return the foreign currency on a specified
future date at the same exchange rate. The foreign cur-
rency amounts that the FRBNY acquires are reported as
“Central bank liquidity swaps” on the Combined State-
ments of Condition. Because the swap transaction will be
unwound at the same exchange rate used in the initial
transaction, the recorded value of the foreign currency
amounts is not affected by changes in the market
exchange rate.

The foreign central bank pays interest to the FRBNY
based on the foreign currency amounts held by the
FRBNY. The FRBNY recognizes interest income during
the term of the swap agreement and reports the interest
income as a component of “Interest income: Central
bank liquidity swaps” in the Combined Statements of
Income and Comprehensive Income.

Activity related to these swap transactions, including
the related interest income, is allocated to each Reserve
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Bank based on the ratio of each Reserve Bank’s capital
and surplus to aggregate capital and surplus at the pre-
ceding December 31. Similar to other investments
denominated in foreign currencies, the foreign currency
holdings associated with these central bank liquidity
swaps are revalued at current market exchange rates.
Because the swap arrangement will be unwound at the
same exchange rate that was used in the initial transac-
tion, the obligation to return the foreign currency is also
revalued at current foreign currency market exchange
rates and is recorded in a currency exchange valuation
account by the FRBNY. This reevaluation method elimi-
nates the effects of the changes in market exchange rates.
As of December 31, 2008, the FRBNY began allocating
this currency exchange valuation account to the other
Reserve Banks. The balance in the currency exchange
valuation account at December 31, 2007 was $353 mil-
lion and was reclassified from “Other liabilities” to
“Central bank liquidity swaps” in the Combined State-
ments of Condition.

(g) Investments Held by Consolidated Variable Interest
Entities

Investments held by the consolidated VIEs include
commercial paper, agency and non-agency collateralized
mortgage obligations (“CMOs”), commercial and resi-
dential real mortgage loans, MBS, CDOs, other invest-
ment securities, and derivatives and associated hedging
activities. These investments are accounted for and clas-
sified as follows:

• Commercial paper held by the CPFF is designated as
held-to-maturity under Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 115, “Accounting for Cer-
tain Instruments in Debt and Equity Securities”
(“SFAS 115”) according to the terms of the program.
The CPFF has the positive intent and the ability to
hold the securities to maturity, and therefore the com-
mercial paper is recorded at amortized cost. The amor-
tized cost is adjusted for amortization of premiums and
accretion of discounts on a straight-line basis that the
CPFF believes is not materially different from the
interest method. Interest income on the commercial
paper is reported as “Interest income: Investments held
by consolidated variable interest entities” in the Com-
bined Statements of Income and Comprehensive
Income. All other investments held by the CPFF are
classified as trading securities under SFAS 115 and are
recorded at fair value. Gains and losses on these trad-
ing securities are recorded as “Non-interest income
(loss): Investments held by consolidated variable inter-
est entities (losses), net” in the Combined Statements
of Income and Comprehensive Income.

The FRBNY conducts quarterly reviews to identify
and evaluate CPFF investments held at amortized cost
that have indications of possible impairment. An
investment is impaired if its fair value falls below its
recorded value and the decline is considered other than
temporary. Impairment of investments is evaluated
using numerous factors, the relative significance of
which varies on a case by case basis. Factors consid-
ered include collectability, collateral, the length of
time and extent to which the fair value has been less
than cost, the financial condition and near-term pros-
pects of the issuer of a security, and the CPFF’s intent
and ability to retain the security in order to allow for

an anticipated recovery in fair value. If, after analyz-
ing each of the above factors, the FRBNY determines
that the impairment is other than temporary, the cost
basis of the individual security is written down to fair
value, and the amount of the write-down is reported in
“Non-interest income (loss): Investments held by con-
solidated variable interest entities (losses), net” in the
Combined Statements of Income and Comprehensive
Income.

• ML follows the guidance in SFAS 115 when account-
ing for investments in debt securities. ML classifies its
debt securities as available for sale and has elected the
fair value option for all eligible assets in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Liabilities” (SFAS 159) and Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value Measure-
ments” (SFAS 157). Other financial instruments,
including derivatives contracts in ML, are recorded at
fair value in accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 133 “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as
amended (SFAS 133). ML II and ML III qualify as
non-registered investment companies under the provi-
sions of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants’ Audit and Accounting Guide for Invest-
ment Companies and, therefore, all investments are
recorded at fair value in accordance with SFAS 157.

• Interest income, accretion of discounts, amortization of
premiums on investments, and paydown gains and
losses on RMBS, ABS CDOs, and CMOSs held by
consolidated variable interest entities are reported in
“Interest income: Investments held by consolidated
variable interest entities” in the Combined Statements
of Income and Comprehensive Income. Realized and
unrealized gains (losses) on investments in consoli-
dated variable interest entities that are recorded at fair
value are reported as “Non-interest income (loss):
Investments held by consolidated variable interest enti-
ties (losses), net” in the Combined Statements of
Income and Comprehensive Income.

(h) Bank Premises, Equipment, and Software

Bank premises and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated on
a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
assets, which range from two to fifty years. Major alter-
ations, renovations, and improvements are capitalized at
cost as additions to the asset accounts and are depreci-
ated over the remaining useful life of the asset or, if
appropriate, over the unique useful life of the alteration,
renovation, or improvement. Maintenance, repairs, and
minor replacements are charged to operating expense in
the year incurred.

Costs incurred for software during the application
development stage, whether developed internally or
acquired for internal use, are capitalized based on the
cost of direct services and materials associated with
designing, coding, installing, and testing the software.
Capitalized software costs are amortized on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives of the software
applications, which range from two to five years. Main-
tenance costs related to software are charged to expense
in the year incurred.
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Capitalized assets, including software, buildings,
leasehold improvements, furniture, and equipment, are
evaluated for impairment, and an adjustment is recorded
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of assets or asset groups is not
recoverable and significantly exceeds the assets’ fair
value.

(i) Federal Reserve Notes

Federal Reserve notes are the circulating currency of
the United States. These notes are issued through the
various Federal Reserve agents (the chairman of the
board of directors of each Reserve Bank and their desig-
nees) to the Reserve Banks upon deposit with such
agents of specified classes of collateral security, typically
U.S. government securities. These notes are identified as
issued to a specific Reserve Bank. The Federal Reserve
Act provides that the collateral security tendered by the
Reserve Bank to the Federal Reserve agent must be at
least equal to the sum of the notes applied for by such
Reserve Bank.

Assets eligible to be pledged as collateral security
include all of the Reserve Banks’ assets. The collateral
value is equal to the book value of the collateral ten-
dered, with the exception of securities, for which the
collateral value is equal to the par value of the securities
tendered. The par value of securities pledged for securi-
ties sold under agreements to repurchase is deducted.

The Board of Governors may, at any time, call upon a
Reserve Bank for additional security to adequately col-
lateralize the outstanding Federal Reserve notes. To sat-
isfy the obligation to provide sufficient collateral for out-
standing Federal Reserve notes, the Reserve Banks have
entered into an agreement that provides for certain assets
of the Reserve Banks to be jointly pledged as collateral
for the Federal Reserve notes issued to all Reserve
Banks. In the event that this collateral is insufficient, the
Federal Reserve Act provides that Federal Reserve notes
become a first and paramount lien on all the assets of the
Reserve Banks. Finally, Federal Reserve notes are obli-
gations of the United States government. At December
31, 2008 and 2007, all Federal Reserve notes issued to
the Reserve Banks were fully collateralized.

“Federal Reserve notes outstanding, net” in the Com-
bined Statements of Condition represents the Federal
Reserve notes outstanding, reduced by the Reserve
Banks’ currency holdings of $169,681 million and
$218,571 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively.

At December 31, 2008, all Federal Reserve notes were
fully collateralized. All gold certificates, all special
drawing right certificates, $496,733 million of domestic
securities and securities purchased under agreements to
resell, and $343,198 million of loans were pledged as
collateral. At December 31, 2008, no investments
denominated in foreign currencies were pledged as
collateral.

(j) Beneficial Interest In Consolidated Variable Interest
Entities

ML, ML II, and ML III have issued senior and subor-
dinated debt, inclusive of a fixed deferred purchase price
in ML II and an equity contribution in ML III. Upon
issuance of the senior and subordinated debt, ML, ML II,

and ML III each elected to measure these obligations at
fair value in accordance with SFAS 159. Principal, inter-
est and changes in fair value on the senior debt, which
were extended by the FRBNY, are eliminated in consoli-
dation. The subordinated debt is recorded at fair value as
“Beneficial interest in consolidated variable interest enti-
ties” in the Combined Statements of Condition. Interest
expense and changes in fair value of the subordinated
debt are recorded in “Interest expense: Other interest
expense related to consolidated variable interest entities”
and “Non-interest income (loss): Investments held by
consolidated variable interest entities (losses), net,”
respectively, in the Combined Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income.

(k) U.S. Treasury Supplemental Financing Account and

Other Deposits

The U.S. Treasury initiated a temporary supplemen-
tary program that consists of a series of Treasury bill
auctions in addition to the Treasury’s standard borrowing
program. The proceeds of this debt are held in an
account at the Federal Reserve that is separate from the
Treasury’s general account. The effect of placing funds
in this account is to drain reserves from the banking sys-
tem and partially offset the reserve impact of the Sys-
tem’s lending and liquidity initiatives. The new account
is defined as the “U.S. Treasury, supplementary financing
account” in the Combined Statements of Condition.

Other deposits represent amounts held in accounts at
the Reserve Banks by GSEs and foreign central banks
and governments.

(l) Items in Process of Collection and Deferred Credit
Items

“Items in process of collection” in the Combined
Statements of Condition primarily represents amounts
attributable to checks that have been deposited for col-
lection and that, as of the balance sheet date, have not yet
been presented to the paying bank. Deferred credit items
are the counterpart liability to items in process of collec-
tion, and the amounts in this account arise from deferring
credit for deposited items until the amounts are collected.
The balances in both accounts can vary significantly.

(m) Capital Paid-in

The Federal Reserve Act requires that each member
bank subscribe to the capital stock of the Reserve Bank
in an amount equal to 6 percent of the capital and surplus
of the member bank. These shares are nonvoting with a
par value of $100 and may not be transferred or hypoth-
ecated. As a member bank’s capital and surplus changes,
its holdings of Reserve Bank stock must be adjusted.
Currently, only one-half of the subscription is paid-in and
the remainder is subject to call. A member bank is liable
for Reserve Bank liabilities up to twice the par value of
stock subscribed by it.

By law, each Reserve Bank is required to pay each
member bank an annual dividend of 6 percent on the
paid-in capital stock. This cumulative dividend is paid
semiannually. To reflect the Federal Reserve Act require-
ment that annual dividends be deducted from net earn-
ings, dividends are presented as a distribution of compre-
hensive income in the Combined Statements of Income
and Comprehensive Income.
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(n) Surplus

The Board of Governors requires the Reserve Banks
to maintain a surplus equal to the amount of capital
paid-in as of December 31 of each year. This amount is
intended to provide additional capital and reduce the pos-
sibility that the Reserve Banks will be required to call on
member banks for additional capital.

Accumulated other comprehensive income is reported
as a component of surplus in the Combined Statements
of Condition and the Combined Statements of Changes
in Capital. The balance of accumulated other comprehen-
sive income is comprised of expenses, gains, and losses
related to the System retirement plan and other postre-
tirement benefit plans that, under accounting standards,
are included in other comprehensive income, but
excluded from net income. Additional information
regarding the classifications of accumulated other com-
prehensive income is provided in Notes 12, 13, and 14.

(o) Interest on Federal Reserve Notes

The Board of Governors requires the Reserve Banks
to transfer excess earnings to the U.S. Treasury as inter-
est on Federal Reserve notes, after providing for the
costs of operations, payment of dividends, and reserva-
tion of an amount necessary to equate surplus with capi-
tal paid-in. This amount is reported as “Payments to U.S.
Treasury as interest on Federal Reserve notes” in the
Combined Statements of Income and Comprehensive
Income and is reported as a liability, or as an asset if
overpaid during the year, in the Combined Statements of
Condition. Weekly payments to the U.S. Treasury may
vary significantly.

In the event of losses or an increase in capital paid-in
at a Reserve Bank, payments to the U.S. Treasury are
suspended and earnings are retained until the surplus is
equal to the capital paid-in.

In the event of a decrease in capital paid-in, the excess
surplus, after equating capital paid-in and surplus at
December 31, is distributed to the U.S. Treasury in the
following year.

(p) Interest on Depository Institutions Deposits

Beginning October 9, 2008, the Reserve Banks pay
interest to depository institutions on qualifying balances
held at the Banks. Authorization for payment of interest
on these balances was granted by Title II of the Finan-
cial Services Regulatory Relief Act of 2006, which had
an effective date of 2011. Section 128 of the Emergency
Economic Stabilization Act of 2008, enacted on October
3, 2008, made that authority immediately effective. The
interest rates paid on required reserve balances and
excess balances are based on an FOMC established tar-
get range for the effective federal funds rate.

(q) Income and Costs Related to U.S. Treasury Services

The Reserve Banks are required by the Federal
Reserve Act to serve as fiscal agent and depositories of
the United States government. By statute, the Depart-
ment of the Treasury has appropriations to pay for these
services. During the years ended December 31, 2008 and
2007, the Reserve Banks were reimbursed for substan-
tially all services provided to the Department of the Trea-
sury as its fiscal agent.

(r) Assessments by the Board of Governors

The Board of Governors assesses the Reserve Banks
to fund its operations based on each Reserve Bank’s
capital and surplus balances as of December 31 of the
prior year. The Board of Governors also assesses each
Reserve Bank for the expenses incurred for the U.S.
Treasury to prepare and retire Federal Reserve notes
based on each Reserve Bank’s share of the number of
notes comprising the System’s net liability for Federal
Reserve notes on December 31 of the prior year.

(s) Taxes

The Reserve Banks are exempt from federal, state,
and local taxes, except for taxes on real property and, in
some states, sales taxes on construction-related materials.
Real property taxes were $38 million and $33 million for
the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respec-
tively, and are reported as a component of “Occupancy
expense” in the Combined Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income.

(t) Restructuring Charges

The Reserve Banks recognize restructuring charges
for exit or disposal costs incurred as part of the closure
of business activities in a particular location, the reloca-
tion of business activities, or a fundamental reorganiza-
tion that affects the nature of operations. Restructuring
charges may include costs associated with employee
separations, contract terminations, and asset impair-
ments. Expenses are recognized in the period in which
the Reserve Banks commit to a formalized restructuring
plan or execute the specific actions contemplated in the
plan and all criteria for financial statement recognition
have been met.

Note 15 describes the Reserve Banks’ restructuring
initiatives and provides information about the costs and
liabilities associated with employee separations and con-
tract terminations. The costs associated with the impair-
ment of certain of the Reserve Banks’ assets are dis-
cussed in Note 10. Costs and liabilities associated with
enhanced pension benefits in connection with the restruc-
turing activities for all of the Reserve Banks are recorded
on the books of the FRBNY. Costs and liabilities associ-
ated with enhanced postretirement benefits are discussed
in Note 13.

(u) Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2008, FASB issued FASB Staff Position
(FSP) FAS 140-4 and FIN 46(R)-8, “Disclosures by Pub-
lic Entities (Enterprises) about Transfers of Financial
Assets and Interests in Variable Interest Entities.” FSP
FAS 140-4 and FIN 46(R)-8 amends FASB Statement
No. 140 to require public entities to provide additional
disclosures about transfers of financial assets. It also
amends FASB Interpretation No. 46(R) to require public
entities, including sponsors that have a variable interest
in a VIE, to provide additional disclosures about their
involvement with VIEs. FSP FAS 140-4 and FIN
46(R)-8 was effective for the combined financial state-
ments for the year ended December 31, 2008. The adop-
tion of the additional disclosure requirements of FSP
FAS 140-4 and FIN 46(R)-8 did not materially impact
the Reserve Banks’ combined financial statements.

In December 2008, FASB issued FSP 132(R)-1,
“Employers’ Disclosures about Postretirement Benefit
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Plan Assets.” FSP 132(R)-1 provides rules for the disclo-
sure of information about assets held in a defined bene-
fit plan in the financial statements of the employer spon-
soring that plan. This FSP applies SFAS 157 to defined
benefit plans and provides rules for additional disclo-
sures about asset categories and concentrations of risk. It
is effective for financial statements with fiscal years end-
ing after December 15, 2009. The provisions of FSP
132(R)-1 will be applied prospectively effective January
1, 2009, and are not expected to materially affect the
Reserve Banks’ combined financial statements.

In October 2008, FASB issued FSP 157-3, “Determin-
ing the Fair Value of a Financial Asset When the Market
for That Asset Is Not Active” with an effective date of
October 10, 2008. FSP 157-3 clarifies how SFAS 157
should be applied when valuing securities in markets that
are not active. For additional information on the effects
of the adoption of this accounting pronouncement, see
Note 9.

In September 2008, FASB issued FSP 133-1 and FIN
45-4, “Disclosures about Credit Derivatives and Certain
Guarantees: An Amendment of FASB Statement No. 133
and FASB Interpretation No. 45; and Clarification of the
Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 161.” This FSP
requires expanded disclosures about credit derivatives
and guarantees. The expanded disclosure requirements of
the FSP, which are effective for the Reserve Banks’ com-
bined financial statements for the year ending December
31, 2008, are incorporated in the accompanying notes.

In March 2008, FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “Disclo-
sures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activi-
ties” (“SFAS 161”), which requires expanded qualitative,
quantitative, and credit-risk disclosures about derivatives
and hedging activities and their effects on a company’s
financial position, financial performance, and cash flows.
SFAS 161 is effective for the Reserve Banks’ combined
financial statements for the year beginning on January 1,
2009, and is not expected to materially affect the Reserve
Banks’ combined financial statements.

In February 2008, FASB issued FSP FAS 140-3,
“Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets and
Repurchase Financing Transactions.” FSP FAS 140-3
requires that an initial transfer of a financial asset and a
repurchase financing that was entered into contempora-
neously with, or in contemplation of, the initial transfer
be evaluated together as a linked transaction under SFAS
140, unless certain criteria are met. FSP FAS 140-3 is
effective for the Reserve Banks’ combined financial
statements for the year beginning on January 1, 2009,
and earlier adoption is not permitted. The provisions of
this standard will be applied prospectively and are not
expected to materially affect the Reserve Banks’ com-
bined financial statements.

In February 2007, FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The
Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities, including an amendment of FASB Statement
No. 115” (“SFAS 159”), which provides companies with
an irrevocable option to elect fair value as the measure-
ment for selected financial assets, financial liabilities,
unrecognized firm commitments, and written loan com-
mitments that are not subject to fair value under other
accounting standards. There was a one-time election
available to apply this standard to existing financial
instruments as of January 1, 2008; otherwise, the fair
value option will be available for financial instruments

on their initial transaction date. The Reserve Banks
adopted SFAS 159 on January 1, 2008, and the effect of
the Reserve Banks’ election for certain assets and liabili-
ties is reflected in Note 9.

In September 2006, FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair
Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157”), which establishes a
single authoritative definition of fair value and a frame-
work for measuring fair value, and expands the required
disclosures for assets and liabilities measured at fair
value. SFAS 157 was effective for fiscal years beginning
after November 15, 2007, with early adoption permitted.
The Reserve Banks adopted SFAS 157 on January 1,
2008, and the effect of the Reserve Banks’ adoption of
this standard is reflected in Note 9.

(5) Loans

The loan amounts outstanding to depository institu-
tions and others at December 31 were as follows (in mil-
lions):

2008 2007

Primary, secondary, and
seasonal credit . . . . . . . . . . $ 93,790 $ 8,636

TAF . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 450,220 40,000

Total loans to depository
institutions . . . . . . . . . . . 544,010 48,636

AMLF . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23,765 0
PDCF . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37,403 0
Other (AIG) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 38,914 0

Total other loans . . . . . . . $100,082 $ 0

Loans to Depository Institutions

The Reserve Banks offer primary, secondary, and sea-
sonal credit to eligible borrowers. Each program has its
own interest rate. Interest is accrued using the applicable
interest rate established at least every fourteen days by
the boards of directors of each Reserve Bank, subject to
review and determination by the Board of Governors.
Primary and secondary credits are extended on a short-
term basis, typically overnight, whereas seasonal credit
may be extended for a period up to nine months.

Primary, secondary, and seasonal credit lending is col-
lateralized to the satisfaction of the Reserve Banks to
reduce credit risk. Assets eligible to collateralize these
loans include consumer, business, and real estate loans;
U.S. Treasury securities; federal agency securities; GSE
obligations; foreign sovereign debt obligations; munici-
pal or corporate obligations; state and local government
obligations; asset-backed securities; corporate bonds;
commercial paper; and bank-issued assets, such as cer-
tificates of deposit, bank notes, and deposit notes. Collat-
eral is assigned a lending value deemed appropriate by
each Reserve Bank, which is typically fair value or face
value reduced by a margin.

Depository institutions that are eligible to borrow
under the Reserve Banks’ primary credit program are
also eligible to participate in the temporary TAF pro-
gram. Under the TAF program, the Reserve Banks con-
duct auctions for a fixed amount of funds, with the inter-
est rate determined by the auction process, subject to a
minimum bid rate. TAF loans are extended on a short-
term basis, with terms of either 28 or 84 days. All
advances under the TAF must be fully collateralized.
Assets eligible to collateralize TAF loans include the
complete list noted above for loans to depository institu-
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tions. Similar to the process used for primary, secondary,
and seasonal credit, a lending value is assigned to each
asset accepted as collateral for TAF loans.

Loans to depository institutions are monitored on a
daily basis to ensure that borrowers continue to meet eli-
gibility requirements for these programs. The financial
condition of borrowers is monitored by the Reserve
Banks and, if a borrower no longer qualifies for these
programs, the Reserve Banks will generally request full
repayment of the outstanding loan or may convert a pri-
mary credit loan to a secondary credit loan.

Collateral levels are reviewed daily against outstand-
ing obligations, and borrowers that no longer have suffi-
cient collateral to support outstanding loans are required
to provide additional collateral or to make partial or full
repayment.

Other Loans

The FRBB administers the AMLF and is authorized to
extend loans to eligible borrowers on behalf of the other
Reserve Banks. All loans extended under the AMLF are
recorded as assets by the FRBB and, if the borrowing
institution settles to a depository account in another
Reserve Bank District, the funds are credited to the insti-
tution’s depository account by the appropriate Reserve
Bank and settled between the Reserve Banks through the
interdistrict settlement account. The loans extended
under the AMLF are nonrecourse, so that the FRBB has
recourse only to the collateral pledged by the borrowers.
The credit risk related to the AMLF is assumed by the
FRBB, and any losses are not recorded by the other
Reserve Banks. No losses were incurred on loans
extended in 2008. Eligible collateral under the program
is limited to U.S. dollar-denominated ABCP that is rated
not lower than A-1/P-1/F1 and must be purchased from
an eligible money market mutual fund. The terms of
loans under the AMLF are limited to 120 days if the
borrower is a bank or 270 days for non-bank borrowers.
The interest rate for advances made under the AMLF is
equal to the FRBB’s primary credit rate offered to
depository institutions at the time the advance is made.
The loans extended under the AMLF are reported as
“Other loans” in the Combined Statements of Condition.

The PDCF provides secured overnight financing to
primary dealers in exchange for a specified range of col-
lateral, including U.S. Treasury securities, federal agency
securities, agency MBS, investment-grade corporate
securities, municipal securities, mortgage-backed securi-
ties, and other asset-backed securities for which a price
is available. Interest on PDCF secured financing is
accrued using the primary credit rate offered to deposi-
tory institutions. The secured financing is reported as
“Other loans” in the Combined Statements of Condition.
The frequency-based fees are reported as “Other income”
in the Combined Statements of Income and Comprehen-
sive Income.

The $38.9 billion extended to AIG under the revolv-
ing line of credit is net of unamortized deferred commit-
ment fees and includes unpaid commitment fees and
accrued interest. Unamortized deferred commitment fees
were $1.5 billion, and unpaid commitment fees and
accrued interest were $1.7 billion and $1.9 billion,
respectively, at December 31, 2008. The AIG loan is
reported as “Other loans” in the Combined Statements of
Condition.

The remaining maturity distribution of loans outstand-
ing at December 31, 2008, was as follows (in millions):

Primary,
Secondary,
and Sea-

sonal Credit TAF

Within 15 days . . . . . . . . . $85,846 $235,424
16 days to 90 days . . . . . . 7,944 214,796
Over 1 year to 5 years . . 0 0

Total loans . . . . . . . . . . . $93,790 $450,220

Other loans

Within 15 days . . . . . . . . . $ 47,086
16 days to 90 days . . . . . . 14,083
Over 1 year to 5 years . . 38,913

Total loans . . . . . . . . . . . $100,082

Allowances for Loan Losses

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, no loans were con-
sidered to be impaired, and the Reserve Banks deter-
mined that no allowance for loan losses was required.

(6) U.S. Government, Federal Agency, and

Government-Sponsored Enterprise Securities;

Securities Purchased Under Agreements To

Resell; Securities Sold Under Agreements To

Repurchase; and Securities Lending

The FRBNY, on behalf of the Reserve Banks, holds
securities bought outright in the SOMA.

The securities held in the SOMA at December 31
were as follows (in millions):

2008 2007

U.S. government securities:
Bills . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 18,423 $227,840
Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 334,779 401,776
Bonds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 122,719 110,995
Federal agency and GSE

securities . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,708 0

Total par value . . . . . . . . . 495,629 740,611

Unamortized premiums . . . . 8,049 7,988
Unaccreted discounts . . . . . . (1,489) (2,970)

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $502,189 $745,629

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the fair value of the
U.S. government, federal agency, and GSE securities
held in the SOMA, excluding accrued interest, was
$566,427 million and $777,141 million, respectively, as
determined by reference to quoted prices for identical
securities.

Although the fair value of security holdings can be
substantially greater than or less than the recorded value
at any point in time, these unrealized gains or losses have
no effect on the ability of the Reserve Banks, as central
bank, to meet their financial obligations and responsibili-
ties and do not represent a risk to the Reserve Banks,
their shareholders, or the public. The fair value is pre-
sented solely for informational purposes.

Financial information related to securities purchased
under agreements to resell and securities sold under
agreements to repurchase for the years ended December
31, 2008 and 2007, were as follows (in millions):
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Securities purchased under
agreements to resell

2008 2007

Contract amount
outstanding,
end of year . . . . . . . . . . . $ 80,000 $46,500

Weighted average
amount outstanding,
during the year . . . . . . . 97,037 35,073

Maximum month-end
balance outstanding,
during the year . . . . . . . 119,000 51,500

Securities pledged,
end of year . . . . . . . . . . . 0 0

Securities sold under
agreements to repurchase

2008 2007

Contract amount
outstanding,
end of year . . . . . . . . . . . $88,352 $43,985

Weighted average
amount outstanding,
during the year . . . . . . . 65,461 34,846

Maximum month-end
balance outstanding,
during the year . . . . . . . 98,559 43,985

Securities pledged,
end of year . . . . . . . . . . . 78,896 44,048

The contract amounts for securities purchased under
agreements to resell and securities sold under agreements
to repurchase approximate fair value.

The remaining maturity distribution of U.S. govern-
ment, federal agency, and GSE securities bought out-
right, securities purchased under agreements to resell,
and securities sold under agreements to repurchase that
were held in the SOMA at December 31, 2008, was as
follows (in millions):

U.S. gov-
ernment
securities

(Par value)

Federal
agency

and GSE
securities

(Par value)

Within 15 days . . . . . . . . . . . $ 19,138 $ 450
16 days to 90 days . . . . . . . . 20,965 3,281
91 days to 1 year . . . . . . . . . 63,330 976
Over 1 year to 5 years . . . . 173,328 11,361
Over 5 years to 10 years . . 97,325 3,640
Over 10 years . . . . . . . . . . . . 101,835 0

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $475,921 $19,708

Total:
U.S. government,
Federal agency,

and GSE securities
(Par value)

Within 15 days . . . . . . . . . . . $ 19,588
16 days to 90 days . . . . . . . . 24,246
91 days to 1 year . . . . . . . . . 64,306
Over 1 year to 5 years . . . . 184,689
Over 5 years to 10 years . . 100,965
Over 10 years . . . . . . . . . . . . 101,835

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $495,629

Securities
purchased

under
agreements

to resell
(Contract
amount)

Securities
sold under
agreements
to repur-

chase
(Contract
amount)

Within 15 days . . . . . . . . . . . $40,000 $88,352
16 days to 90 days . . . . . . . . 40,000 0
91 days to 1 year . . . . . . . . . 0 0
Over 1 year to 5 years . . . . 0 0
Over 5 years to 10 years . . 0 0
Over 10 years . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 0

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $80,000 $88,352

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, U.S. government
securities with par values of $180,765 million and
$16,649 million, respectively, were loaned from the
SOMA.

(7) Investments Denominated in Foreign

Currencies

The FRBNY, on behalf of the Reserve Banks, holds
foreign currency deposits with foreign central banks and
with the Bank for International Settlements and invests
in foreign government debt instruments. These invest-
ments are guaranteed as to principal and interest by the
issuing foreign governments.

Total investments denominated in foreign currencies,
including accrued interest, valued at amortized cost and
foreign currency market exchange rates at December 31,
were as follows (in millions):

2008 2007

European Union euro:
Foreign currency deposits . . . . $ 5,563 $ 7,181
Securities purchased under

agreements to resell . . . . . . . 4,076 2,548
Government debt instruments . . 4,609 4,666

Japanese yen:
Foreign currency deposits . . . . 3,483 2,811
Government debt instruments . . 7,073 5,708

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $24,804 $22,914

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the fair value of
total System investments denominated in foreign curren-
cies, including accrued interest, was $25,021 million and
$22,892 million, respectively. The fair value of govern-
ment debt instruments was determined by reference to
quoted prices for identical securities. The cost basis of
foreign currency deposits and securities purchased under
agreements to resell, adjusted for accrued interest,
approximates fair value. Similar to the U.S. government,
federal agency, and GSE securities discussed in Note 6,
unrealized gains or losses have no effect on the ability of
a Reserve Bank, as central bank, to meet its financial
obligations and responsibilities.

The remaining maturity distribution of investments
denominated in foreign currencies at December 31, 2008,
was as follows (in millions):
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European
Euro

Japanese
Yen

Within 15 days . . . . . . . . . $ 7,594 $ 3,484
16 days to 90 days . . . . . . 1,169 630
91 days to 1 year . . . . . . . 1,749 1,986
Over 1 year to 5 years . . 3,736 4,456

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $14,248 $10,556

Total

Within 15 days . . . . . . . . . $11,078
16 days to 90 days . . . . . . 1,799
91 days to 1 year . . . . . . . 3,735
Over 1 year to 5 years . . 8,192

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $24,804

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the authorized ware-
housing facility was $5 billion, with no balance outstanding.

In connection with its foreign currency activities, the
FRBNY may enter into transactions that contain varying
degrees of off-balance-sheet market risk that result from
their future settlement and counter-party credit risk. The
FRBNY controls credit risk by obtaining credit approvals,
establishing transaction limits, in some cases receiving
collateral, and performing daily monitoring procedures.

(8) Central Bank Liquidity Swaps

Central bank liquidity swap arrangements are contrac-
tual agreements between two parties, the FRBNY and an
authorized foreign central bank, whereby the parties
agree to exchange their currencies up to a prearranged
maximum amount and for an agreed-upon period of time.
At the end of that period of time, the currencies are
returned at the original contractual exchange rate, and the
foreign central bank pays interest to the Federal Reserve
at an agreed-upon rate. These arrangements give the
authorized foreign central bank temporary access to U.S.
dollars. Drawings under the swap arrangements are initi-
ated by the foreign central bank and must be agreed to by
the Federal Reserve.

The remaining maturity distribution of central bank
liquidity swaps at December 31 was as follows (in
millions):

2008

Within
15 days

16 days
to

90 days Total

Australian dollar . . $ 10,000 $ 12,830 $ 22,830
Danish krone . . . . . 0 15,000 15,000
Euro . . . . . . . . . . . . . 150,969 140,383 291,352
Japanese yen . . . . . 47,893 74,823 122,716
Korean won . . . . . . 0 10,350 10,350
Norwegian krone . . 2,200 6,025 8,225
Swedish krona . . . . 10,000 15,000 25,000
Swiss franc . . . . . . . 19,221 5,954 25,175
U.K. pound . . . . . . . 120 32,960 33,080

Total . . . . . . . . . . . $240,403 $313,325 $553,728

2007

Total

Australian dollar . . $ 0
Danish krone . . . . . 0
Euro . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,000
Japanese yen . . . . . 0
Korean won . . . . . . 0

2007

Total

Norwegian krone . . 0
Swedish krona . . . . 0
Swiss franc . . . . . . . 4,000
U.K. pound . . . . . . . 0

Total . . . . . . . . . . . $24,000

(9) Investments Held By Consolidated Variable

Interest Entities

(a) Summary Information for Consolidated Variable

Interest Entities

The total assets of consolidated VIEs, including cash,
cash equivalents, and accrued interest, at December 31,
2008, were as follows (in millions):

Total Assets

CPFF . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $334,910
ML . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30,635
ML II . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,195
ML III . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27,256

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $411,996

The FRBNY’s maximum exposure to loss on these
assets was $405.4 billion and incorporates potential
losses associated with assets recorded on the Combined
Statements of Condition, net of the fair value of subordi-
nated interests.

The net income (loss) attributable to consolidated
VIEs for the period ended December 31, 2008, was as
follows (in millions):

ML ML II ML III

Interest income:
Portfolio interest income . . $ 1,561 $ 302 $ 517
Less: Interest expense . . . . . 332 103 28

Net interest income . . . . . 1,229 199 489

Non-interest income:
Portfolio holdings gain

(loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,497) (1,499) (2,633)
Unrealized gains on

beneficial interest in
consolidated VIEs . . . . 1,188 1,003 2,198

Non-interest income . . . . (4,309) (496) (435)

Total interest income and
non-interest income . . (3,080) (297) 54

Less: Professional fees . . . . 54 5 9

Net (loss) income
attributable to
consolidated VIEs . . . . $(3,134) $ (302) $ 45

CPFF Total

Interest income:
Portfolio interest income . . $1,707 $ 4,087
Less: Interest expense . . . . . 0 463

Net interest income . . . . . 1,707 3,624

Non-interest income:
Portfolio holdings gain

(loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 (9,626)
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CPFF Total

Unrealized gains on
beneficial interest in
consolidated VIEs . . . . 0 4,389

Non-interest income . . . . 3 (5,237)

Total interest income and
non-interest income . . 1,710 (1,613)

Less: Professional fees . . . . 12 80

Net (loss) income
attributable to
consolidated VIEs . . . . $1,698 $(1,693)

The classification of significant assets and liabilities
of the consolidated VIEs at December 31, 2008, was as
follows (in millions):

Assets Recorded At

Amor-
tized
Cost

Fair
Value Total

Assets:
Commercial paper . . . . . $333,631 $ 0 $333,631
CDOs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 26,957 26,957
RMBS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 18,839 18,839
Agency CMOs . . . . . . . . 0 13,565 13,565
Non-agency CMOs . . . . 0 1,836 1,836
Commercial and

residential
mortgage loans . . . 0 6,490 6,490

SWAP contracts . . . . . . . 0 2,454 2,454
TBA commitments . . . . 0 2,089 2,089
Other investments . . . . . 0 2,340 2,340

Subtotal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $333,631 $74,570 $408,201

Cash, cash equivalents,
and accrued interest
receivable . . . . . . . . $ 3,795

Total investments held
by consolidated
variable interest
entities: . . . . . . . . . . $411,996

Liabilities:
Beneficial interest in

consolidated
variable interest
entities . . . . . . . . . . . $ (2,824)

Other liabilities . . . . . . . . $ (5,813)

The amount reported as “Consolidated variable inter-
est entities: Other liabilities” in the Combined Statements
of Condition comprises $2.6 billion related to cash col-
lateral received on swap contracts, $2.4 billion payable
for investments purchased by VIEs, accrued interest,
unearned registration fees, and accrued professional fees.

Total realized gains (losses) and unrealized gains
(losses) associated with the investments held by consoli-
dated VIEs at December 31, 2008, were as follows (in
millions):

Total Real-
ized Gains
(Losses)

Fair Value
Changes

Unrealized
Gains

(Losses)

CDOs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0 $(3,281)
RMBS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 (1,499)
Agency CMOs . . . . . . . . . . (109) 60

Total Real-
ized Gains
(Losses)

Fair Value
Changes

Unrealized
Gains

(Losses)

Non-agency CMOs . . . . . (4) (1,502)
Commercial and

residential
mortgage loans . . . . . 39 (2,693)

Swap contracts . . . . . . . . . (70) 155
TBA commitments . . . . . . (57) (10)
Other investments . . . . . . . 237 (892)

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 36 $(9,662)

Total
Realized/

Unrealized
Gains

(Losses)

CDOs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(3,281)
RMBS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,499)
Agency CMOs . . . . . . . . . . (49)
Non-agency CMOs . . . . . (1,506)
Commercial and

residential
mortgage loans . . . . . (2,654)

Swap contracts . . . . . . . . . 85
TBA commitments . . . . . . (67)
Other investments . . . . . . . (655)

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(9,626)

(b) Commercial Paper Funding Facility LLC

The interest rate for unsecured commercial paper held
by the CPFF is the three-month OIS rate plus 100 basis
points, along with an additional surcharge (“credit
enhancement fee”) of 100 basis points. The interest rate
for asset-backed commercial paper is the three-month
OIS rate plus 300 basis points.

The non-refundable facility fee (“registration fee”) is
equal to 10 basis points times the maximum amount of
the participant’s commercial paper that the CPFF may
purchase, which equals the greatest amount of U.S.
dollar-denominated commercial paper that the issuer had
outstanding on the days between January 1 and August
31, 2008. The registration fee is recognized on a straight-
line basis over the life of the program.

The credit enhancement fee is equal to 100 basis
points per annum of the face value of the unsecured
commercial paper purchased. Unsecured commercial
paper issuers covered by the FDIC’s Temporary Liquid-
ity Guarantee Program are viewed as having a satisfac-
tory guarantee, and the credit enhancement fee for those
participants is waived. The credit enhancement fee is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the
commercial paper, which is not materially different from
the interest method.

The FRBNY conducts a periodic review of the
CPFF’s commercial paper to determine if impairment is
other than temporary such that a loss should be recog-
nized. At December 31, 2008, there were no commercial
paper securities for which management considered
impairment to be other than temporary.

The remaining maturity distribution of the commercial
paper and trading securities held by the CPFF, excluding
interest receivable, at December 31, 2008, was as follows
(in millions):
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Commercial Paper

Asset
Backed

Non-Asset
Backed

0 − 15 Days . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0 $ 0
16 − 60 Days . . . . . . . . . . . 95,306 201,660
61 − 92 Days . . . . . . . . . . . 25,625 11,040

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $120,931 $212,700

Trading
Securities Total

0 − 15 Days . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 233 $ 233
16 − 60 Days . . . . . . . . . . . 473 297,439
61 − 92 Days . . . . . . . . . . . 565 37,230

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,271 $334,902

Top-tier commercial paper has received investment
grade ratings from all rating agencies (A-1, P-1, F1).
Split-rated commercial paper has received a top-tier rat-
ing from two rating agencies and a second-tier rating
(A-2, P-2, F2) from a third rating agency. Second-tier
commercial paper has received non-investment grade rat-
ings from two or more rating agencies (A-2, P-2, F2).
Commercial paper that is rated second tier resulted from
rating changes after acquisition of the commercial paper.
The credit ratings profile of commercial paper held by
the CPFF, excluding cash, cash equivalents, and accrued
interest, by assets and by issuer type and industry sector
at December 31, 2008, was as follows (in millions):

Top Tier Split-Rated

Asset Backed
Multi-seller . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 58,879 $ 0
Hybrid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,625 0
Single-seller . . . . . . . . . . . . 23,129 0
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,298 0

120,931 0
Non-Asset Backed
Diversified financial . . . . 179,651 1,685
Insurance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,647 1,805
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,051 3,657

205,349 7,147

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $326,280 $7,147

Second Tier Total

Asset Backed
Multi-seller . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0 $ 58,879
Hybrid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 24,625
Single-seller . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 23,129
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 14,298

0 120,931
Non-Asset Backed
Diversified financial . . . . 0 181,336
Insurance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 204 19,656
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 11,708

204 212,700

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $204 $333,631

The top ten issuers of commercial paper held by the
CPFF accounted for 43.5% of the total commercial paper
portfolio holdings at December 31, 2008. The largest
issuer, a diversified financial company, represents 10.8%
of the total commercial paper at December 31, 2008.

(c) Maiden Lane LLC

ML’s investment portfolio consists primarily of
agency and non-agency CMOs, commercial and residen-
tial mortgage loans, and derivatives and associated hedg-
ing activities. A synopsis of the significant holdings at
December 31, 2008, and the associated credit risk for
each holding follows.

i. Agency CMOs and Non-agency CMOs

CMOs represent fractional ownership interests in resi-
dential mortgage-backed securities issued by either U.S.
government agencies or private entities. The rate of
delinquencies and defaults on the underlying residential
mortgage loans and the aggregate amount of the result-
ing losses will be affected by a number of factors, includ-
ing general economic conditions, particularly those in the
area where the related mortgaged property is located; the
level of the borrower’s equity in the mortgaged property;
and the individual financial circumstances of the bor-
rower. Changes in economic conditions, including delin-
quencies or defaults on assets underlying these securities,
can affect the value, income, or liquidity of such posi-
tions.

At December 31, 2008, the ratings breakdown of the
$16.8 billion of securities recorded at fair value in the
ML portfolio, as a percentage of aggregate fair value of
all securities in the portfolio, was as follows:

Ratings 1

AAA
AA+ to

AA−
A+ to

A−

Security Type: 2

Agency CMOs . . . . . . . . 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Non-Agency CMOs . . . 6.7% 0.7% 0.7%
Other 3 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3.2% 1.3% 1.0%

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9.9% 2.0% 1.7%

Ratings 1

BBB+
to

BBB−

BB+
and

lower

Security Type: 2

Agency CMOs . . . . . . . . 0.0% 0.0%
Non-Agency CMOs . . . 0.7% 2.2%
Other 3 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.5% 1.1%

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.2% 3.3%

Ratings 1

Govern-
ment/

Agency Total

Security Type: 2

Agency CMOs . . . . . . . . 80.9% 80.9%
Non-Agency CMOs . . . 0.0% 11.0%
Other 3 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.0% 8.1%

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 80.9% 100.0%

1Lowest of all ratings is used for the purposes of this
table.

2This table does not include ML swaps and other
derivative contracts, commercial and residential mort-
gage loans, and TBA investments.

3Includes all asset sectors that individually represent
less than 5 percent of aggregate portfolio fair value.
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At December 31, 2008, non-agency CMOs held by
ML were collateralized by properties at the locations
identified below:
Geographic Location Percentage 1

California . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39.1%
Florida . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11.7%
Other 2 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 49.2%

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100.0%

1Based on a percentage of the total unpaid principal
balance of the underlying loans.

2No other individual state comprises more than 5 per-
cent of the total.

ii. Commercial and Residential Mortgage Loans

Commercial and residential mortgage loans are sub-
ject to a high degree of credit risk because of exposure
to loss from loan defaults. Default rates are subject to a
wide variety of factors, including, but not limited to,
property performance, property management, supply and
demand factors, construction trends, consumer behavior,
regional economic conditions, interest rates, and other
factors beyond the control of the FRBNY.

The performance profile for the commercial and resi-
dential mortgage loans at December 31, 2008, was as
follows (in millions):

Remaining
Principal
Amount

Outstanding Fair Value

Performing loans:
Commercial . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 8,406 $5,529
Residential . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,288 817

Subtotal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,694 6,346

Non-performing loans
(past due greater than
60 days)
Commercial . . . . . . . . . . . . 79 24
Residential . . . . . . . . . . . . . 380 120

Subtotal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 459 144

Total
Commercial . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,485 5,553
Residential . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,668 937

Total loans . . . . . . . . . . . $10,153 $6,490

Fair Value as
Percentage of

Remaining
Principal

Performing loans:
Commercial . . . . . . . . . . . . 65.8%
Residential . . . . . . . . . . . . . 63.4%

Subtotal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 65.5%

Non-performing loans
(past due greater than
60 days)
Commercial . . . . . . . . . . . . 30.3%
Residential . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31.7%

Subtotal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31.4%

Total
Commercial . . . . . . . . . . . . 65.4%
Residential . . . . . . . . . . . . . 56.2%

Total loans . . . . . . . . . . . 63.9%

The following table summarizes the state in which
residential mortgage loans are collateralized and the
property types of the commercial mortgage loans held in
the ML at December 31, 2008:

Concentration of Unpaid
Principal Balances

Residential Commercial 2

By State:
California . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35.8%
Florida . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9.1%
Other 1 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 55.1%

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100.0%

By Property:
Hospitality . . . . . . . . . . . . . 80.3%
Office . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10.2%
Other 1 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9.5%

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100.0%
1No other individual state or property comprises more

than 5 percent of the total.
2At December 31, 2008, one issuer represented

approximately 48 percent of the total unpaid principal
balance of the commercial mortgage loan portfolio.

iii. Derivative Instruments

The ML portfolio includes various derivative financial
instruments, primarily consisting of such as a total return
swap agreement (“TRS”) with JPMC. ML may enter into
additional derivative contracts during the normal course
of business to economically hedge its exposure to inter-
est rates. Losses may arise if the value of the derivative
contracts acquired decrease because of an unfavorable
change in the market price of the underlying security or
if the counterparty does not perform under the contract.

Total return swaps are agreements in which one party
commits to pay a fee in exchange for a return linked to
the market performance of an underlying security or
group of securities, index, or other asset (“reference obli-
gation”). Risks may arise if the value of the swap
acquired decreases because of an unfavorable change in
the price of the reference obligation or because of the
inability of the counterparty to meet the terms of its
contracts.

During the term of a swap contract, unrealized gains
or losses are recorded as a result of marking the swap to
fair value. When a swap is settled or terminated, a real-
ized gain or loss is recorded equal to the difference, if
any, between the contractual amount and the actual pro-
ceeds on settlement of the contract.

At closing, ML and JPMC entered into a TRS with
reference obligations representing to a basket of CDS
and interest rate swaps (“IRS”). The TRS is structured
such that ML’s economic position for each CDS and IRS
replicates Bear Stearns’ economic position. JPMC is the
calculation agent for the TRS, and the underlying values
are also monitored by the investment manager on behalf
of ML. ML made an initial payment to JPMC of $3.3
billion, which was included in the purchase price of the
assets.

At December 31, 2008, the cash collateral liability
associated with the TRS is invested in cash, cash equiva-
lents, and investments in the amounts of $2.1 billion and
$0.5 billion, respectively. In addition, the ML has
pledged $3.0 billion of agency CMOs to JPMC.
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CDS are agreements that provide protection against a
credit event on one or more referenced credits. The
nature of a credit event is established by the protection
buyer and protection seller at the inception of a transac-
tion, and such events include bankruptcy, insolvency, or
failure to meet payment obligations when due. The buyer
of the CDS pays a premium in return for payment pro-
tection upon the occurrence, if any, of a credit event.
Upon the occurrence of a triggering credit event, the
maximum potential amount of future payments the seller
could be required to make under a CDS is equal to the
notational amount of the contract. Such future payments
could be reduced or offset by amounts recovered under
recourse or collateral provisions outlined in the contract,
including seizure and liquidation of collateral pledged by
the buyer.

The following table summarizes the maximum credit
exposure (notational amount, as described above) and
fair value as of December 31, 2008, related to those CDS
for which ML was the protection seller or guarantor (in
millions):

Notional
Amount

Maturity
Range (Date) 1

Single-name CDS 2

ABS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,530 04/20/10−
11/07/47

CMBS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 621 01/25/36−
10/12/52

CMO . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 83 07/25/34−
10/25/44

Corporate debt 358 12/20/10−
03/20/18

$3,592

Index CDS:
CMBS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17 2/17/51

Totals . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $3,609

Fair Value

Single-name CDS 2

ABS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(2,158)
CMBS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (371)
CMO . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (61)
Corporate debt . . . . . . . . (150)

$(2,740)

Index CDS:
CMBS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (12)

Totals . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(2,752)

1The maturity range date represents a range of legal
final maturity dates of single-name CDS within the cor-
responding CDS sector. Due to the fact that most of the
reference obligations may be prepaid prior to the respec-
tive legal final maturity dates, the terms of the LLC’s
obligation under a given CDS contract may terminate
sooner than the legal final maturity date.

2Included in the reference obligations of the TRS with
JPMC.

Interest rate swaps obligate two parties to exchange
one or more payments typically calculated with reference
to fixed or periodically reset rates of interest applied to a
specified notional principal amount. Notional principal is
the amount to which interest rates are applied to deter-
mine the payment streams under interest rate swaps.

Such notional principal amounts often are used to
express the volume of these transactions but are not actu-
ally exchanged between the counterparties. ML entered
into interest rate swaps as part of its interest rate risk
management strategy. Additionally, there is exposure to
credit risk in the event of nonperformance by the coun-
terparty to the swap. The notional value of the interest
rate swaps in ML, including those embedded in the TRS,
totals $11.2 billion at December 31, 2008.

Futures contracts are agreements to buy and sell finan-
cial instruments for a set price on a future date. Initial
margin deposits in the form of cash or securities are
made upon entering into futures contracts. During the
period that a futures contract is open, changes in the fair
value of the contract are recorded as unrealized gains or
losses on a daily basis. Variation margin payments are
paid or received, depending upon whether unrealized
gains or losses result. When the contract is closed, ML
will record a realized gain or loss equal to the difference
between the proceeds from (or cost of) the closing trans-
action and ML’s cost basis in the contract. The use of
futures transactions involves the risk of imperfect corre-
lation in movements in the price of futures contracts,
interest rates, and the underlying hedged assets. ML is
also at risk of not being able to enter into a closing
transaction for the futures contract because of an illiquid
secondary market. At December 31, 2008, ML had
pledged collateral related to future contracts of
$69.0 million.

(d) Maiden Lane II LLC

ML II’s RMBS investment portfolio has risks related
to credit, interest rate, general market, and concentration
risk. Credit-related risk on RMBS arises from losses due
to delinquencies and defaults by borrowers on the under-
lying mortgage loans and breaches by originators and
servicers of their obligations under the underlying docu-
mentation pursuant to which the RMBS are issued. The
rate of delinquencies and defaults on residential mort-
gage loans and the aggregate amount of the resulting
losses will be affected by a number of factors, including
general economic conditions, particularly those in the
area where the related mortgaged property is located, the
level of the borrower’s equity in the mortgaged property,
and the individual financial circumstances of the
borrower.

The rate of interest payable on certain RMBS may be
set or effectively capped at the weighted average net
coupon of the underlying mortgage loans themselves,
often referred to as an “available funds cap.” As a result
of this cap, the return to the holder of such RMBS is
dependent on the relative timing and rate of delinquen-
cies and prepayments of mortgage loans bearing a higher
rate of interest.

The fair value of any particular RMBS asset may be
subject to substantial variation. The entire market or par-
ticular instruments traded on a market may decline even
if projected cash flow or other factors improve because
the prices of such instruments are subject to numerous
other factors that have little or no correlation to the per-
formance of a particular instrument.

Since ML II concentrates its investments in RMBS,
the overall impact on ML II of adverse developments in
the RMBS market could be considerably greater than if
ML II did not concentrate its investments in RMBS.
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At December 31, 2008, the sector/rating composition
of ML II’s $18.8 billion RMBS portfolio, recorded at fair
value, as a percentage of aggregate fair value, was as
follows (in millions):

Rating 1

AAA
AA+ to

AA−
A+ to

A−

Asset type:
Alt-A (adjustable rate) . . 10.6% 5.4% 4.1%
Subprime . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22.5% 8.5% 6.7%
Other 2 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7.1% 1.1% 0.8%

Total 3 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 40.1% 15.0% 11.6%

Rating 1

BBB+
to

BBB−

BB+
and

lower Total

Asset type:
Alt-A (adjustable rate) . . 3.1% 4.7% 27.7%
Subprime . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6.8% 12.7% 57.3%
Other 2 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.4% 1.5% 15.0%

Total 3 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14.3% 18.9% 100.0%
1Lowest of all ratings is used for the purposes of this

table.
2Includes all asset sectors that, individually, represent

less than 5 percent of the aggregate outstanding fair
value of the portfolio.

3Rows and columns may not total due to rounding.

At December 31, 2008, the RMBS held by ML II
were collateralized by properties at the locations identi-
fied below, as a percentage of the total unpaid principal
balance of the underlying loans:

Geographic Location Percentage 1

California . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32.5%
Florida . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12.6%
Other 2 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 54.9%

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100.0%
1Based on geographic location information that was

available for approximately 88 percent of underlying
mortgage loans by outstanding unpaid principal balance.

2Includes all geographic locations that, individually,
represent less than 5 percent of the total aggregate out-
standing unpaid principal balance of the underlying
loans.

(e) Maiden Lane III LLC

The primary holdings within ML III are ABS CDOs.
An ABS CDO is a security issued by a bankruptcy-
remote entity that is backed by a diversified pool of debt
securities, which in the case of ML III are primarily
RMBS and CMBS. The cash flows of ABS CDOs can be
split into multiple segments, called “tranches,” which
will vary in risk profile and yield. The junior tranches
will bear the initial risk of loss followed by the more
senior tranches. The ABS CDOs in the ML III portfolio
represent senior tranches. Because they are shielded from
defaults by the subordinated tranches, senior tranches
will typically have higher credit ratings and lower yields
than their underlying securities and will often receive
investment grade ratings from one or more of the nation-
ally recognized rating agencies. Despite the protection
afforded by the subordinated tranches, senior tranches

can experience substantial losses from actual defaults on
the underlying RMBS or CMBS.

Over the past several years, default rates, delinquen-
cies, and rating downgrades on RMBS and CMBS have
increased significantly. This trend has reduced the
amount of credit support available for the ABS CDOs.
Such diminished credit support increases the likelihood
that payments may not be made to holders of ABS
CDOs.

ABS CDO issuers can issue short-term eligible invest-
ments under Rule 2a-7 of the Investment Company Act
of 1940 if the ABS CDO contains arrangements to
remarket the securities at defined periods. The invest-
ments must contain put options (“2a-7 puts”), which
allow the purchasers to sell the ABS CDO at par to a
third party (“put provider”) if a scheduled remarketing is
unsuccessful due to reasons other than a credit or bank-
ruptcy event. As of December 31, 2008, the total
notional value of ABS CDOs held by ML III with
embedded 2a-7 puts for which AIGFP was, directly or
indirectly, the put provider was $2.7 billion. ML III has
agreed, in return for the put premiums, to either convert
the ABS CDOs to long-term notes or extinguish the 2a-7
puts, to not exercise the 2a-7 puts, or only to exercise the
2a-7 puts if it simultaneously re-purchases the ABS
CDOs at par. These agreements will mature on or before
December 31, 2009.

At December 31, 2008, the ABS CDO type/vintage
and rating composition of ML III’s $26.7 billion CDO
portfolio, recorded at fair value, as a percentage of aggre-
gate fair value of all securities in the portfolio, was as
follows:

Ratings1

Asset Type/Vintage AAA
AA+ to

AA−
A+ to

A−

High-Grade Multi-Sector
CDO . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.2% 24.2% 7.4%

2003−2004 . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.2% 9.4% 5.1%
2005 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.0% 3.8% 2.3%
2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.0% 11.1% 0.0%
Mezzanine Multi-Sector

CDO . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.3% 2.4% 1.6%
2003−2004 . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.3% 1.2% 0.9%
2005 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.0% 1.2% 0.7%
2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Commercial Real-Estate

CDO . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17.6% 0.4% 0.0%
2002−2005 . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.8% 0.4% 0.0%
2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.3% 0.0% 0.0%
2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12.5% 0.0% 0.0%

Total 2 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18.1% 27.0% 9.0%

Ratings1

Asset Type/Vintage
BBB to
BBB−

BB+
and

lower Total

High-Grade Multi-Sector
CDO . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12.5% 26.1% 70.4%

2003−2004 . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3.9% 7.8% 26.3%
2005 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8.6% 15.9% 30.6%
2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.0% 2.4% 13.5%
Mezzanine Multi-Sector

CDO . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.2% 7.1% 11.6%
2003−2004 . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.0% 1.3% 3.7%
2005 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.2% 5.8% 7.9%
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Ratings1

Asset Type/Vintage
BBB to
BBB−

BB+
and

lower Total

2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.0% 0.1% 0.1%
Commercial Real-Estate

CDO . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.0% 0.0% 18.0%
2002−2005 . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.0% 0.0% 3.2%
2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.0% 0.0% 2.3%
2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.0% 0.0% 12.5%

Total 2 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12.6% 33.2% 100.0%

1Lowest of all ratings is used for the purposes of this
table.

2Rows and columns may not foot due to rounding.

(f) Fair Value Measurement

The consolidated VIEs have adopted SFAS 159 and
SFAS 157, and ML has elected the fair value option for
all of its holdings of securities and commercial and resi-
dential mortgages. ML II and ML III qualify as non-
registered investment companies under the provisions of
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
Audit and Accounting Guide for Investment Companies
and, therefore, all investments are recorded at fair value
in accordance with SFAS 157. In addition, ML, ML II,
and ML III have elected to record their respective ben-
eficial interests at fair value.

The accounting and classification of these investments
appropriately reflect the VIEs’ and the FRBNY’s intent
with respect to the purpose of the investments and most
closely reflect the amount of the assets available to liq-
uidate the entities’ obligations.

i. Fair Value Hierarchy

SFAS 157 establishes a three-level fair value hierar-
chy that distinguishes between market participant
assumptions developed using market data obtained from
independent sources (observable inputs) and the consoli-
dated VIEs’ own assumptions about market participant
assumptions developed using the best information avail-
able in the circumstances (unobservable inputs).

The three levels established by SFAS 157 are de-
scribed below:

• Level 1 — Valuation is based on quoted prices for
identical instruments traded in active markets.

• Level 2 — Valuation is based on quoted prices for
similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for
identical or similar instruments in markets that are not
active, and model-based valuation techniques for
which all significant assumptions are observable in the
market.

• Level 3 — Valuation is based on inputs from model-
based techniques that use significant assumptions not
observable in the market. These unobservable assump-
tions reflect the consolidated VIEs’ own estimates of
assumptions that market participants would use in
pricing the asset and liability. Valuation techniques
include the use of option pricing models, discounted
cash flow models, and similar techniques.

The inputs or methodology used for valuing securities
are not necessarily an indication of the risk associated
with investing in those securities.

ii. Determination of Fair Value

The consolidated VIEs value their investments on the
basis of the last available bid prices or current market
quotations provided by dealers, or pricing services
selected by their designated investment managers. To
determine the value of a particular investment, pricing
services may use certain information with respect to
transactions in such investments, quotations from deal-
ers, pricing matrices, market transactions in comparable
investments, various relationships observed in the market
between investments, and calculated yield measures
based on valuation technology commonly employed in
the market for such investments.

Market quotations may not represent fair value in cer-
tain circumstances where an investment manager
believes that facts and circumstances applicable to an
issuer, a seller, a purchaser, or the market for a particular
security cause current market quotations not to reflect the
fair value of the security. The investment manager
applies proprietary valuation models that use collateral
performance scenarios and pricing metrics derived from
reported performance of the universe of bonds as well as
observable market data to determine fair value.

Due to the inherent uncertainty of determining the fair
value of investments that do not have a readily available
fair value, the fair value of these investments may differ
significantly from the values that would have been used
had a readily available fair value existed for these invest-
ments and may differ materially from the values that may
ultimately be realized.

The fair value of the liability for the beneficial inter-
ests of consolidated VIEs is estimated based upon the
fair value of the underlying assets held by the VIEs. The
holders of these beneficial interests do not have recourse
to the general credit of the FRBNY.

iii. Valuation Methodologies for Level 3 Assets and
Liabilities

In certain cases where there is limited activity or less
transparency around inputs to the valuation, securities are
classified within level 3 of the valuation hierarchy. For
instance, in valuing collateralized debt obligations, cer-
tain collateralized mortgage obligations, and commercial
and residential mortgage loans, the determination of fair
value is based on collateral performance scenarios. These
valuations also incorporate pricing matrices derived from
the reported performance of the universe of bonds as
well as observations and estimates of market data.
Because external price information is not available,
market-based models are used to value these securities.
Key inputs to the model are market spreads data for each
credit rating, collateral type, and other relevant contrac-
tual features. Because there is a lack of observable pric-
ing, loans carried at fair value are classified within level
3.

The following table presents the financial instruments
recorded in VIEs at fair value as of December 31, 2008,
by SFAS 157 hierarchy (in millions):

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets:
CDOs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $0 $ 155 $26,802
RMBS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 7,406 11,433
Agency CMOs . . . . . . . . . . 0 12,670 895
Non-agency CMOs . . . . . 0 759 1,077
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Commercial and
residential
mortgage loans . . . . . 0 0 6,490

Swap contracts . . . . . . . . . 0 0 2,454
TBA commitments . . . . . . 0 2,089 0
Other investments . . . . . . . 0 1,992 348

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . $0 $25,071 $49,499

Liabilities:
Beneficial interest in

consolidated variable
interest entities . . . . . $ (2,824)

Total Fair
Value

Assets:
CDOs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $26,957
RMBS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,839
Agency CMOs . . . . . . . . . . 13,565
Non-agency CMOs . . . . . 1,836
Commercial and

residential
mortgage loans . . . . . 6,490

Swap contracts . . . . . . . . . 2,454
TBA commitments . . . . . . 2,089
Other investments . . . . . . . 2,340

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . $74,570

Liabilities:
Beneficial interest in

consolidated variable
interest entities . . . . . $ (2,824)

The table below presents a reconciliation of all assets
and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis
using significant unobservable inputs (level 3) during the
year ended December 31, 2008, including realized and
unrealized gains (losses) (in millions):

Net Pur-
chases,

Sales, and
Settlements

Total Real-
ized & Unre-
alized Gains/

(Loss)

Assets:
CDOs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $29,740 $(2,938)
RMBS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,606 (1,173)
Agency CMOs . . . . . . . . . . 891 4
Non-agency CMOs . . . . . 2,062 (985)
Commercial and

residential
mortgage loans . . . . . 9,183 (2,693)

Swap contracts . . . . . . . . . 2,369 85
Other Investments . . . . . . 625 (277)

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . $57,746 $(7,977)

Liabilities:
Beneficial interest in

consolidated variable
interest entities 1 . . . . $ (7,213) $ 4,389

Transfers
In or Out

Fair Value
December
31, 2008

Assets:
CDOs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $0 $26,802
RMBS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 11,433
Agency CMOs . . . . . . . . . . 0 895

Transfers
In or Out

Fair Value
December
31, 2008

Non-agency CMOs . . . . . 0 1,077
Commercial and

residential
mortgage loans . . . . . 0 6,490

Swap contracts . . . . . . . . . 0 2,454
Other Investments . . . . . . 0 348

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0 $49,499

Liabilities:
Beneficial interest in

consolidated variable
interest entities 1 . . . . $(0) $ (2,824)

1Includes $63 million in capitalized interest.

(g) Professional Fees

The consolidated VIEs have contracted with several
nationally recognized institutions to serve as investment
managers, administrators, and custodians for the VIEs’
assets. Service providers to the VIEs operate under mul-
tiyear contracts that include provisions governing termi-
nation.

The fees charged by the investment managers, custo-
dians, administrators, auditors, and other service provid-
ers and organization costs are recorded as a component
of “Operating expenses: Professional fees related to con-
solidated variable interest entities” in the Combined
Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income.

(10) Bank Premises, Equipment, and Software

Reserve Bank premises and equipment at December
31, 2008, were as follows (in millions):

2008 2007

Reserve Bank premises and
equipment:
Land . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 334 $ 323
Buildings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,161 1,878
Building machinery

and equipment . . . . . . . 463 416
Construction in progress . . . 160 380
Furniture and equipment . . 1,037 1,118

Subtotal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,155 4,115

Accumulated depreciation (1,583) (1,576)

Bank premises and
equipment, net . . . . . . . $ 2,572 $ 2,539

Depreciation expense,
for the year ended
December 31 . . . . . . . . $ 199 $ 185

The Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City completed
the construction of a new headquarters building in Kan-
sas City in 2008.

Reserve Bank premises and equipment at December
31 included the following amounts for capitalized leases
(in millions):

2008 2007

Leased premises and
equipment under
capital leases . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 21 $ 21

Accumulated depreciation . . (13) (11)

Leased premises and
equipment under
capital leases, net . . . . . . . $ 8 $ 10
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Depreciation expense related to leased premises and
equipment under capital leases was $4 million for each
of the years ended December 31, 2008 and December 31,
2007.

Certain of the Reserve Banks lease space to outside
tenants with remaining lease terms ranging from one to
fifteen years. Rental income from such leases was $30
million and $27 million for the years ended December
31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and is reported as a
component of “Non-interest income (loss): Other
income” in the Combined Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income. Future minimum lease pay-
ments that the Reserve Banks will receive under noncan-
celable lease agreements in existence at December 31,
2008, are as follows (in millions):

2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 28
2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27
2011 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22
2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20
2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19
Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 57

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $173

The Reserve Banks have capitalized software assets,
net of amortization, of $129 million and $158 million at
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Amortization
expense was $67 million and $62 million for the years
ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Capi-
talized software assets are reported as a component of
“Other assets” in the Combined Statements of Condi-
tions, and the related amortization is reported as a com-
ponent of “Other expenses” in the Combined Statements
of Income and Comprehensive Income.

Assets impaired as a result of the Reserve Banks’
restructuring plans, as discussed in Note 15, include
check equipment, leasehold improvements, and furniture
assets. Asset impairment losses of $2 million and $32
million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and
2007, respectively, were determined using fair values
based on quoted fair values or other valuation techniques
and are reported as a component of “Operating expenses:
Other expenses” in the Combined Statements of Income
and Comprehensive Income. The Reserve Banks
recorded write-offs of $9 million during the year ended
December 31, 2008 related to discontinued software
development projects.

(11) Commitments and Contingencies

In the normal course of operations, the Reserve Banks
enter into contractual commitments, normally with fixed
expiration dates or termination provisions, at specific
rates and for specific purposes.

Operating Leases

At December 31, 2008, the Reserve Banks were obli-
gated under noncancelable leases for premises and equip-
ment with remaining terms ranging from one to approxi-
mately 15 years. These leases provide for increased
rental payments based upon increases in real estate taxes,
operating costs, or selected price indices.

Rental expense under operating leases for certain
operating facilities, warehouses, and data processing and
office equipment (including taxes, insurance, and mainte-
nance when included in rent), net of sublease rentals
(reported as a component of “Other income”), was $27

million and $29 million for the years ended December
31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Certain of the Reserve
Banks’ leases have options to renew.

Future minimum rental payments under noncancelable
operating leases, net of sublease rentals, with remaining
terms of one year or more, at December 31, 2008, are as
follows (in millions):

Operating
Leases

2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 11
2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10
2011 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9
2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9
2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9
Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 91

Future minimum rental payments . . . . . . $139

Future minimum rental payments under noncancelable
capital leases, net of sublease rentals, with remaining
terms of one year or more at December 31, 2008, were
not material.

At December 31, 2008, the Reserve Banks had unre-
corded unconditional purchase commitments and long-
term obligations extending through the year 2017 with a
remaining fixed commitment of $294 million. Purchases
of $33 million and $59 million were made against these
commitments during 2008 and 2007, respectively. These
commitments represent goods and services for mainte-
nance of currency-processing machines and for licenses
and maintenance of check software and hardware, and
have variable and/or fixed components. The variable por-
tion of the commitments is for additional services above
fixed contractual service limits. The fixed payments for
the next five years under these commitments are as fol-
lows (in millions):

Fixed Com-
mitment

2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 8
2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 59
2011 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30
2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30
2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31

The Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond had commit-
ments of approximately $7 million and $51 million at
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, for the con-
struction of an employee parking deck at its head office
and for security enhancements throughout the District.
Expected payments related to these commitments are
$7 million for the year ending December 31, 2009.

Under the Insurance Agreement of the Federal
Reserve Banks, each Reserve Bank has agreed to bear,
on a per incident basis, a pro rata share of losses in
excess of one percent of the capital paid-in of the claim-
ing Reserve Bank, up to 50 percent of the total capital
paid-in of all Reserve Banks. Losses are borne in the
ratio of a Reserve Bank’s capital paid-in to the total
capital paid-in of all Reserve Banks at the beginning of
the calendar year in which the loss is shared. No claims
were outstanding under the agreement at December 31,
2008 or 2007.

The Reserve Banks are involved in certain legal
actions and claims arising in the ordinary course of busi-
ness. Although it is difficult to predict the ultimate out-
come of these actions, in management’s opinion, based
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on discussions with counsel, the aforementioned litiga-
tion and claims will be resolved without material adverse
effect on the financial position or results of operations of
the Reserve Banks.

Other Commitments

In support of financial market stability activities, the
FRBNY entered into commitments to provide financial
assistance and backstop support to financial institutions.
The contractual amount represents the FRBNY’s maxi-
mum exposure to loss in the event of default by the bor-
rower or total loss in value of pledged collateral. Total
commitments at December 31, 2008, were as follows (in
millions):

Contrac-
tual

Amount
Unfunded
Amount

Loan commitment
(Citigroup) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $244,800 $244,800

Secured line of credit
(AIG) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 60,000 23,200

Commercial loan commitments
(ML) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 266 266

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $305,066 $268,266

The agreement with Citigroup, while legally a loan
commitment, is accounted for in accordance with FIN
45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Require-
ments for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of
Indebtedness of Others.” As of December 31, 2008, both
the probable loss and the fair value of the FRBNY’s loan
commitment was deemed to be zero, because under a
range of scenarios it is unlikely that the FRBNY will be
required to make the loan.

The secured line of credit relates to the undrawn por-
tion of the line of credit provided to AIG to assist it with
meeting obligations as they come due. Collateral to
secure the line of credit includes the equity in AIG’s
subsidiaries. The FRBNY does not expect to incur any
losses related to the unfunded commitment as of Decem-
ber 31, 2008.

The commercial loan commitments relate to commer-
cial mortgage loans acquired by ML that have underlying
unfunded commitments due to the borrower.

(12) Retirement and Thrift Plans

Retirement Plans

The Reserve Banks currently offer three defined bene-
fit retirement plans to its employees, based on length of
service and level of compensation. Substantially all of
the Reserve Banks’, Board of Governors, and the Office
of Employee Benefits of the Federal Reserve Systems’
employees participate in the Retirement Plan for
Employees of the Federal Reserve System (“System
Plan”). Employees at certain compensation levels partici-
pate in the Benefit Equalization Retirement Plan
(“BEP”), and certain Reserve Bank officers participate in
the Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan (“SERP”).

The System Plan provides retirement benefits to
employees of the Federal Reserve Banks, the Board of
Governors, and the Office of Employee Benefits of the
Federal Reserve Employee Benefits System. The
FRBNY, on behalf of the System, recognizes the net
asset or net liability and costs associated with the System
Plan in its consolidated financial statements. Costs asso-

ciated with the System Plan are not reimbursed by other
participating employers.

Following is a reconciliation of the beginning and
ending balances of the System Plan benefit obligation (in
millions):

2008 2007

Estimated actuarial present
value of projected benefit
obligation at January 1 . . . . $5,325 $5,147

Service cost-benefits earned
during the period . . . . . . . . . . 150 146

Interest cost on projected
benefit obligation . . . . . . . . . 357 317

Actuarial loss (gain) . . . . . . . . . 599 (46)
Contributions by plan

participants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 3
Special termination benefits . . 9 22
Benefits paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (280) (264)
Plan amendments . . . . . . . . . . . . 868 0

Estimated actuarial present
value of projected
benefit obligation at
December 31 . . . . . . . . . . . . . $7,031 $5,325

Following is a reconciliation of the beginning and end-
ing balances of the System Plan assets, the funded status,
and the prepaid pension benefit costs (in millions):

2008 2007

Estimated fair value
of plan assets
at January 1 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6,604 $ 6,330

Actual return on plan assets . . (1,274) 535
Contributions by plan

participants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 3
Benefits paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (280) (264)

Estimated fair value
of plan assets
at December 31 . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,053 $ 6,604

Funded status and
(accrued) prepaid
pension benefit costs . . . . . . $(1,978) $ 1,279

Amounts included in accumu-
lated other comprehensive loss
are shown below:
Prior service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (989) $ (163)
Net actuarial loss . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,429) (1,135)

Total accumulated other
comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . $(4,418) $(1,298)

Accrued and prepaid pension benefit costs are
reported as “Accrued benefit costs” and “Other assets,”
respectively, in the Combined Statements of Condition.

The accumulated benefit obligation for the System
Plan, which differs from the estimated actuarial present
value of the projected benefit obligation because it is
based on current rather than future compensation levels,
was $6,143 million and $4,621 million at December 31,
2008 and 2007, respectively.

The weighted-average assumptions used in developing
the accumulated pension benefit obligation for the Sys-
tem Plan as of December 31 are as follows:

2008 2007

Discount rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6.00% 6.25%
Rate of compensation

increase . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5.00% 5.00%
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In 2008, the System approved several plan amend-
ments. As a result, the actuarially determined net peri-
odic benefit expense for the year ended December 31,
2008, was remeasured, using a 7.75 percent discount rate
as of November 1. The approved plan amendments, the
most significant of which was to incorporate annual,
rather than ad hoc, cost-of-living adjustments to the plan
benefit, resulted in a $60 million increase in net periodic
benefit expenses for the year ended December 31, 2008.

Net periodic benefit expenses for the years ended
December 31 were actuarially determined using a Janu-
ary 1 measurement date. The weighted-average assump-
tions used in developing net periodic benefit expenses
for the System Plan for the years were as follows:

2008 2007

Discount rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6.50% 6.00%
Expected asset return . . . . . 8.00% 8.00%
Rate of compensation

increase . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5.00% 4.50%

Discount rates reflect yields available on high-quality
corporate bonds that would generate the cash flows nec-
essary to pay the plan’s benefits when due. The expected
long-term rate of return on assets was based on a combi-
nation of methodologies including the System Plan’s his-
torical returns; surveys of expected rates of return for
other entities’ plans; building a projected return for equi-
ties and fixed income investments based on real interest
rates, inflation expectations, and equity risk premiums;
and surveys of expected returns in equity and fixed
income markets.

The components of net periodic pension benefit
expense for the System Plan for the years ended Decem-
ber 31 are shown below (in millions):

2008 2007

Service cost-benefits earned
during the period . . . . . . . . . . $ 150 $ 146

Interest cost on accumulated
benefit obligation . . . . . . . . . 357 317

Amortization of prior service
cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41 29

Amortization of net loss . . . . . 78 79
Expected return on plan

assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (497) (496)

Net periodic pension benefit
expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 129 75

Special termination benefits . . 9 22
Curtailment (gain) loss . . . . . . . 0 0

Total periodic pension benefit
expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 138 $ 97

Estimated amounts that will be amortized from accu-
mulated other comprehensive loss into net periodic pen-
sion benefit expense in 2009 are shown below:

Prior service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 116
Actuarial loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 284

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 400

The recognition of special termination losses is the
result of enhanced retirement benefits provided to
employees during the restructuring described in Note 15.

Following is a summary of expected benefit payments
excluding enhanced retirement benefits (in millions):

Expected
benefit

payments

2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 315
2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 330
2011 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 346
2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 368
2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 391
2014−2018 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,278

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $4,028

The System’s Committee on Investment Performance
(“CIP”) is responsible for establishing investment poli-
cies, selecting investment managers, and monitoring the
investment managers’ compliance with the policies. In
2008, the CIP reassessed the System Plan investment
strategies, and the resulting target allocations evolved
considerably. The System Plan’s assets were held in five
investment vehicles: actively-managed balanced
accounts, a constant mix asset allocation account, a
liability-linked account, indexed commingled trusts, and
a money market fund. The actively-managed balanced
accounts have equity, fixed income, and temporary
investment segments, with a performance benchmark for
these assets based upon 60 percent of the return of the
Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index and 40 percent of the
return of the Barclays Aggregate Bond Index, with
required equity segment exposures in the range of 40
percent to 80 percent of each account. The constant mix
account is comprised of two index funds, one tracking
the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index and the other
tracking the Barclays Aggregate Bond Index, and is auto-
matically rebalanced. The liability-linked account,
funded in April 2008, seeks to defease a portion of the
System Plan’s liability related to retired lives using a
Treasury securities portfolio. The policy governing this
account calls for cash-matching over the next two years
of a portion of retiree benefits payments and immunizing
the remaining obligation. The three indexed commingled
trust investments, initially funded in October 2008, are
intended to provide the System Plan with low-cost,
broadly-diversified exposures to U.S. equities, U.S.
investment-grade bonds, and international equities. The
money market fund is the repository for cash balances
and adheres to a constant-dollar accounting method-
ology.

The System Plan’s weighted-average asset allocations
at December 31, by asset category, are as follows:

2008 2007

Equities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 55.40% 65.70%
Fixed income . . . . . . . . . . . 42.80% 33.20%
Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.80% 1.10%

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100.00% 100.00%

Contributions to the System Plan may be determined
using different assumptions than those required for finan-
cial reporting. The System Plan’s actuarial funding
method is expected to produce a recommended annual
funding range between $150 and $200 million. Begin-
ning in January 2009, the System will make monthly
contributions of $20 million and will reevaluate funding
upon completion of the 2009 actuarial valuation. The
Reserve Banks’ projected benefit obligation, funded sta-
tus, and net pension expenses for the BEP and the SERP
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at December 31, 2008 and 2007, and for the years then
ended, were not material.

Thrift Plan

Employees of the Reserve Banks may also participate
in the defined contribution Thrift Plan for Employees of
the Federal Reserve System (“Thrift Plan”). The Reserve
Banks match employee contributions based on a speci-
fied formula. For the years ended December 31, 2008
and 2007, the Reserve Banks matched 80 percent on the
first 6 percent of employee contributions for employees
with less than five years of service and 100 percent on
the first 6 percent of employee contributions for employ-
ees with five or more years of service. The Reserve
Banks’ Thrift Plan contributions totaled $72 million and
$69 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and
2007, respectively, and are reported as a component of
“Salaries and other benefits” in the Combined Statements
of Income and Comprehensive Income. Beginning in
2009, the Reserve Banks will match 100 percent of the
first 6 percent of employee contributions from the date of
hire and provide an automatic employer contribution of
1 percent of eligible pay.

(13) Postretirement Benefits Other Than

Pensions and Postemployment Benefits

Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions

In addition to the Reserve Banks’ retirement plans,
employees who have met certain age and length-of-
service requirements are eligible for both medical bene-
fits and life insurance coverage during retirement.

The Reserve Banks fund benefits payable under the
medical and life insurance plans as due and, accordingly,
have no plan assets.

Following is a reconciliation of the beginning and
ending balances of the benefit obligation (in millions):

2008 2007

Accumulated postretirement
benefit obligation at
January 1 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,121 $1,164

Service cost-benefits earned
during the period . . . . . . . . . 38 41

Interest cost on accumulated
benefit obligation . . . . . . . . . 71 69

Net actuarial loss (gain) . . . . . 54 (93)
Curtailment gain . . . . . . . . . . . . (10) (10)
Special termination benefits

loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 3
Contributions by plan

participants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15 13
Benefits paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (72) (69)
Medicare Part D subsidies . . . 4 4
Plan amendments . . . . . . . . . . . 0 (1)

Accumulated postretirement
benefit obligation
at December 31 . . . . . . . . . . $1,221 $1,121

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the weighted-
average discount rate assumptions used in developing the
postretirement benefit obligation were 6.00 percent and
6.25 percent, respectively.

Discount rates reflect yields available on high-quality
corporate bonds that would generate the cash flows nec-
essary to pay the plan’s benefits when due.

Following is a reconciliation of the beginning and
ending balance of the plan assets, the unfunded postre-
tirement benefit obligation, and the accrued postretire-
ment benefit costs (in millions):

2008 2007

Fair value of plan assets
at January 1 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0 $ 0

Contributions by the
employer . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 53 52

Contributions by plan
participants . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15 13

Benefits paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (72) (69)
Medicare Part D subsidies . . . 4 4

Fair value of plan assets
at December 31 . . . . . . . . . . 0 0

Unfunded obligation and
accrued postretirement
benefit cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,221 $1,121

Amounts included in accumu-
lated other comprehensive
loss are shown below:
Prior service cost . . . . . . . . . . . 44 60
Net actuarial loss . . . . . . . . . . . (313) (292)
Deferred curtailment gain . . . 4 6

Total accumulated other
comprehensive loss . . . . . . . $ (265) $ (226)

Accrued postretirement benefit costs are reported as a
component of “Accrued benefit costs” in the Combined
Statements of Condition.

For measurement purposes, the assumed health care
cost trend rates at December 31 are as follows:

2008 2007

Health care cost trend
rate assumed for next
year . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7.50% 8.00%

Rate to which the cost trend
rate is assumed to decline
(the ultimate trend rate) . . 5.00% 5.00%

Year that the rate reaches
the ultimate trend rate . . . 2014 2013

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a signifi-
cant effect on the amounts reported for health care plans.
A one percentage point change in assumed health care
cost trend rates would have the following effects for the
year ended December 31, 2008 (in millions):

One
Percentage

Point
Increase

One
Percentage

Point
Decrease

Effect on aggregate of
service and interest
cost components of net
periodic postretirement
benefit costs . . . . . . . . . . $ 14 $ (12)

Effect on accumulated
postretirement benefit
obligation . . . . . . . . . . . . 125 (107)

The following is a summary of the components of net
periodic postretirement benefit expense for the years
ended December 31 (in millions):
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2008 2007

Service cost-benefits earned
during the period . . . . . . . . $ 38 $ 41

Interest cost on accumulated
benefit obligation . . . . . . . . 71 69

Amortization of prior service
cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (20) (22)

Amortization of actuarial
loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 27 48

Total periodic expense . . . . . 116 136
Curtailment gain . . . . . . . . . . . (1) 0
Special termination benefits

loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 3

Net periodic postretirement
benefit expense . . . . . . . . . . $115 $139

Estimated amounts that will be amortized from accu-
mulated other comprehensive loss into net periodic pos-
tretirement benefit expense in 2009 are shown below:

Prior service cost . . . . . . . . . . $ (20)
Net actuarial loss . . . . . . . . . . 24

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4

Net postretirement benefit costs are actuarially deter-
mined using a January 1 measurement date. At January
1, 2008 and 2007, the weighted-average discount rate
assumptions used to determine net periodic postretire-
ment benefit costs were 6.25 percent and 5.75 percent,
respectively.

Net periodic postretirement benefit expense is
reported as a component of “Salaries and other benefits”
in the Combined Statements of Income and Comprehen-
sive Income.

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and
Modernization Act of 2003 established a prescription
drug benefit under Medicare (“Medicare Part D”) and a
federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit
plans that provide benefits that are at least actuarially
equivalent to Medicare Part D. The benefits provided
under the Reserve Banks’ plans to certain participants
are at least actuarially equivalent to the Medicare Part D
prescription drug benefit. The estimated effects of the
subsidy are reflected in actuarial loss in the accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation and net periodic postre-
tirement benefit expense.

Federal Medicare Part D subsidy receipts were
$3.3 million and $6.2 million for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Expected receipts in
2009, which relate to benefits paid in the year ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007, are $2.2 million.

Following is a summary of expected postretirement
benefit payments (in millions):

Without
subsidy

With
subsidy

2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 72 $ 66
2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 77 72
2011 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 83 77
2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 87 80
2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 92 84
2014−2018 . . . . . . . . . . . . . 511 462

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $922 $841

Postemployment Benefits

The Reserve Banks offer benefits to former or inactive
employees. Postemployment benefit costs are actuarially
determined using a December 31 measurement date and
include the cost of medical and dental insurance, survi-
vor income, and disability benefits. The accrued postem-
ployment benefit costs recognized by the Reserve Banks
at December 31, 2008 and 2007 were $117 million and
$124 million, respectively. This cost is included as a
component of “Accrued benefit costs” in the Combined
Statements of Condition. Net periodic postemployment
benefit expense included in 2008 and 2007 operating
expenses were $10 million and $15 million, respectively,
and are recorded as a component of “Salaries and other
benefits” in the Combined Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income.

(14) Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

and Other Comprehensive Income

Following is a reconciliation of beginning and ending
balances of accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) (in millions):

Amount
related to
defined
benefit

retirement
plan

Amount
related to

postretirement
benefits

other than
pensions

Balance at January 1,
2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(1,492) $(357)

Change in funded status of
benefit plans:
Prior service costs arising

during the year . . . . . . . . . 0 (3)
Net actuarial gain arising

during the year . . . . . . . . . 86 103
Deferred curtailment gain . . 0 5
Amortization of prior

service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29 (22)
Amortization of net

actuarial loss . . . . . . . . . . . 79 48

Change in funded status
of benefit plans - other
comprehensive income . . 194 131

Balance at December 31,
2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(1,298) $(226)

Change in funded status of
benefit plans:
Prior service costs arising

during the year . . . . . . . . . $ (868) $ 4
Net actuarial loss arising

during the year . . . . . . . . . (2,371) (48)
Deferred curtailment gain . . 0 1
Amortization of prior

service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41 (20)
Amortization of net

actuarial loss . . . . . . . . . . . 78 27
Amortization of deferred

curtailment gain . . . . . . . . 0 (3)

Change in funded status
of benefit plans - other
comprehensive loss . . . . . (3,120) (39)

Balance at December 31,
2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(4,418) $(265)
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Total
accumulated

other
comprehensive
income (loss)

Balance at January 1,
2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(1,849)

Change in funded status of
benefit plans:
Prior service costs arising

during the year . . . . . . . . . (3)
Net actuarial gain arising

during the year . . . . . . . . . 189
Deferred curtailment gain . . 5
Amortization of prior

service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7
Amortization of net

actuarial loss . . . . . . . . . . . 127

Change in funded status
of benefit plans - other
comprehensive income . . 325

Balance at December 31,
2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(1,524)

Change in funded status of
benefit plans:
Prior service costs arising

during the year . . . . . . . . . (864)
Net actuarial loss arising

during the year . . . . . . . . . (2,419)
Deferred curtailment gain 1
Amortization of prior

service cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21
Amortization of net

actuarial loss . . . . . . . . . . . 105
Amortization of deferred

curtailment gain . . . . . . . . (3)

Change in funded status
of benefit plans - other
comprehensive loss . . . . . (3,159)

Balance at December 31,
2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(4,683)

Additional detail regarding the classification of accu-
mulated other comprehensive loss is included in Notes
12 and 13.

(15) Business Restructuring Charges

2008 Restructuring Plans

In 2008, the Reserve Banks announced the accelera-
tion of their check restructuring initiatives to align the
check processing infrastructure and operations with
declining check processing volumes. The new infrastruc-
ture will involve consolidation of operations into two
regional Reserve Bank processing sites in Cleveland and
Atlanta. Additional announcements in 2008 included
restructuring plans associated with the closure of a check
processing contingency center and the consolidation of
check adjustments sites.

2007 and Prior Restructuring Plans

In 2007, the Reserve Banks announced restructuring
plans related to aligning the check-processing infrastruc-
ture and operations with declining processing volumes.
The new infrastructure would involve consolidation of

operations into four regional Reserve Bank processing
sites in Philadelphia, Cleveland, Atlanta, and Dallas.
Additional announcements in 2007 included restructuring
plans associated with the U.S. Treasury’s Collections and
Cash Modernization initiative. The Reserve Banks
incurred various restructuring charges prior to 2007
related to the initial phases of restructuring of the Sys-
tem’s check-processing and cash-handling infrastructure.

Following is a summary of financial information
related to the restructuring plans (in millions):

2006
and Prior

Restructur-
ing Plans

2007
Restructur-
ing Plans

Information related to
restructuring plans as of
December 31, 2008:
Total expected costs

related to restructuring
activity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 36 $ 41

Estimated future costs
related to restructuring
activity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0 $ 0

Expected completion
date . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2008 2008

Reconciliation of liability
balances:
Balance at January 1,

2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 12 $ 0
Employee separation

costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 38
Adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . . (5) 3
Payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6) (1)

Balance at December 31,
2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3 $ 40

Employee separation
costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 4

Adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 (4)
Payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4) (17)

Balance at December 31,
2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0 $ 23

2008
Restructur-
ing Plans Total

Information related to
restructuring plans as of
December 31, 2008:
Total expected costs

related to restructuring
activity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 17 $94

Estimated future costs
related to restructuring
activity $ 1 $ 1

Expected completion
date . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2012

Reconciliation of liability
balances:
Balance at January 1,

2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0 $12
Employee separation

costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 40
Adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 (2)
Payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 (7)
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2008
Restructur-
ing Plans Total

Balance at December 31,
2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0 $ 43

Employee separation
costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17 22

Adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 (4)
Payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0 (21)

Balance at December 31,
2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $17 $ 40

Employee separation costs are primarily severance
costs for identified staff reductions associated with the
announced restructuring plans. Separation costs that are
provided under terms of ongoing benefit arrangements

are recorded based on the accumulated benefit earned by
the employee. Separation costs that are provided under
the terms of one-time benefit arrangements are generally
measured based on the expected benefit as of the termi-
nation date and recorded ratably over the period to termi-
nation. Restructuring costs related to employee separa-
tions are reported as a component of “Salaries and other
benefits” in the Combined Statements of Income and
Comprehensive Income.

(16) Subsequent Events

Where applicable, all subsequent events are disclosed
in Note 3.

The effects of subsequent events do not require adjust-
ment to the combined financial statements as of Decem-
ber 31, 2008.
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Office of Inspector General Activities

The Board of Governors’ Office of
Inspector General (OIG) operates in
accordance with the Inspector General
Act of 1978, as amended. The OIG
plans and conducts audits, attestations,
inspections, evaluations, investigations,
and law and regulation reviews relating
to the Board’s programs and operations,
and to those functions that the Board
has delegated to the Federal Reserve
Banks. In addition, it retains an inde-
pendent auditor each year to audit the
Board’s financial statements. The OIG
makes recommendations and conducts
activities to promote economy and effi-
ciency, enhance policies and proce-
dures, and prevent and detect waste,
fraud, and abuse in Board and Board-
delegated programs and operations. The

OIG also keeps the Congress and the
Chairman of the Board of Governors
fully informed about serious abuses and
deficiencies.

During 2008, the OIG completed
15 audits, attestations, inspections, eval-
uations, and other assessments, and
conducted a number of follow-up re-
views to evaluate action taken on prior
recommendations. It also issued a Com-
pendium of Open Recommendations,
the Strategic Plan 2008-2011, and two
semiannual reports to Congress. In
addition, the OIG closed nine investiga-
tions and performed numerous legisla-
tive and regulatory reviews.

Visit the OIG website at www.
federalreserve.gov/oig/ for more infor-
mation.

OIG Audits, Attestations, Inspections, and Evaluations Completed during 2008

Report title Month issued

Security Control Review of the Federal Reserve Integrated Records Management
Architecture (Internal Report) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . January

Security Control Review of the EGov Systems (Internal Report) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . January

Audit of the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council’s Financial
Statements for the Year Ended December 31, 2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . February

Audit of the Board’s Financial Statements for the Year Ended December 31, 2007 . . . . . . . . . . . March

Inspection of Controls for Safeguarding Confidential and Personally Identifiable
Information Collected during Bank Examinations (Internal Report) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . March

Review of Selected Common Information Security Controls (Internal Report) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . March

Control Review of the Reserve Bank Operating Assessment Process . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . March

Security Control Review of the Currency Ordering System (Internal Report) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . June

Reducing the Risk of Loss or Theft of Confidential Information: Comparison of
Agencies’ Requirements (Internal Report) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . June

Security Control Review of the FISMA Assets Maintained by the Federal Reserve
Bank of Boston (Internal Report) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . September

Evaluation of Data Flows for Board Employee Data Received by OEB and
its Contractors (Internal Report) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . September

Audit of the Board’s Information Security Program . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . September

Control Review of the Board’s Currency Expenditures and Assessments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . September

Evaluation of Certification and Accreditation (C&A) Reviews of the National
Examination Database (Internal Report) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . September

Report on the External Quality Control Review of the Smithsonian Institution
Inspector General Audit Organization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . December
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Government Accountability Office Reviews

Under the Federal Banking Agency
Audit Act (Public Law 95–320), most
Federal Reserve System operations are
under the purview of the Government
Accountability Office (GAO). In 2008,
the GAO completed seven reports on
selected aspects of Federal Reserve
operations (table). In addition, eight
projects concerning the Federal Reserve

were in various stages of completion at
year-end (table). The Federal Reserve
also provided information to the GAO
during the year on numerous other
GAO investigations, including eight
other completed reviews and ten other
ongoing reviews.

The reports are available directly
from the GAO.

Reports Completed during 2008

Report title Report number
Month issued

(2008)

Hedge Funds: Regulators and Market Participants
Are Taking Steps to Strengthen Market Discipline,
but Continued Attention Is Needed . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . GAO-08-200 January

U.S. Coins: The Federal Reserve Banks Are Fulfilling
Coin Demand, but Optimal Inventory Ranges Are
Undefined . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . GAO-08-401 March

Fair Lending: Race and Gender Data Are Limited for
Nonmortgage Lending . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . GAO-08-698 June

Information Security Controls at FRBs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . GAO-08-836R June

U.S. Patriot Act: Better Interagency Coordination and
Implementing Guidance for Section 311 Could
Improve U.S. Anti–Money Laundering Efforts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . GAO-08-1058 September

Risk-Based Capital: New Basel II Rules Reduced
Certain Competitive Concerns, but Bank Regulators
Should Address Remaining Uncertainties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . GAO-08-953 September

Check 21 Act: Most Consumers Have Accepted and
Banks Are Progressing Toward Full Adoption of
Check Truncation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . GAO-09-8 October

Projects Active at Year-End 2008

Subject of project Month initiated

Suspicious Activity Reports (SAR) process . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . September 2007
Inspector Generals’ role in federal entities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . September 2007
Bank Secrecy Act (BSA) compliance and enforcement . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . October 2007
Review of federal enforcement of fair lending laws . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . September 2008
Systemic risk determination . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . October 2008
Risks and challenges presented by credit default swaps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . November 2008
Risk management oversight among federal financial regulators . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . December 2008
Cybersecurity strategy . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . December 2008
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